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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking information, within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, about our financial results and estimates, business prospects
and products in development that involve substantial risks and uncertainties.  You can identify these statements by the
fact that they do not relate strictly to historic or current facts. These forward-looking statements use terms such as
“believes,” “expects,” “may”, “will,” “should,” “anticipates,” “estimate,” “project,” “plan,” or “forecast” or other words of similar meaning
relating to future operating or financial performance or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and
uncertainties.  From time to time, we also may make oral or written forward-looking statements in other materials we
release to the public.  These forward-looking statements are based on many assumptions and factors, and are subject
to many conditions, including, but not limited to, our continuing ability to obtain additional financing, dependence on
contracts with suppliers and major customers, competitive pricing for our products, demand for our products,
changing technology, our introduction of new products, industry conditions, anticipated future revenues and results of
operations, retention of key officers, management or employees, prospective business ventures or combinations and
their potential effects on our business. 

Our actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from the results expressed in, or implied by,
these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are made based upon management’s current
expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects upon our business. We cannot
guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been prudent in our plans
and assumptions. We cannot predict whether future developments affecting us will be those anticipated by
management, and there are a number of factors that could adversely affect our future operating results or cause our
actual results to differ materially from the estimates or expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM
1.

BUSINESS

Overview

Media Sciences is a leading manufacturer of consumables for use in color business printers and industrial
printers.  Our products are a high-quality, lower cost, alternative to the printer manufacturers’ brand of
supplies.  Behind every Media Sciences product is The Science of Color™ – our proprietary process for delivering high
quality products at the very best price while including a commitment to exceptional, highly responsive technical
support and our longstanding industry leading warranty.

We market and sell our products through international indirect sales channels including wholesalers, distributors and
dealers.  Approximately 64% of our revenues were generated in the United States, with the majority of our
international sales generated in Western Europe.  Our business is derived from a single segment, that of imaging
supplies.

Our growth has been, and will continue to be, a function of the growth of the overall business color printer market,
expansion of our product line, and an increase in market share for our products.

Our Organizational History

Media Sciences International, Inc. is a holding company that conducts substantially all of its operations through its
subsidiaries.  Media Sciences International, Inc. has two wholly-owned operating subsidiaries:  Media Sciences, Inc.
and Cadapult Graphic Systems, Inc. 

Media Sciences, Inc. manufactures and markets color printer supplies, including solid ink sticks and toner cartridges
for use in business color printers.  Cadapult Graphic Systems, Inc. no longer has any substantial operations.

We are a Delaware corporation that was originally incorporated in Utah in 1983 under the name Communitra Energy,
Inc.  In 1998, we reincorporated in Delaware under the name Cadapult Graphic Systems, Inc.  In 2002, we changed
our corporate name to Media Sciences International, Inc.

Our headquarters are located at 8 Allerman Road, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, and our telephone number is
201-677-9311.  Our website is www.mediasciences.com.

Industry and Market Overview

Color Business Printer Market
The office environment has been dominated by monochrome (black and white) printers for document
printing.  However, with decreasing color printer prices, and increasing print speeds, quality and reliability, color
printing has become increasingly common.  As a result, in recent years unit placements of monochrome printers have
decreased while placements of color printers continue to grow year over year.

Desktop Color Printing Technologies
While monochrome printers are predominately based on laser technology, three technologies form the basis of most
desktop color printers:  inkjet, toner-based laser and solid ink.
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Inkjet printers are typically inexpensive to buy, print slowly, and produce their best images on expensive special
papers.  In general, they are expensive to operate.  However, their low purchase price (sometimes almost free) has
made them ubiquitous for home printing.  As well, they are often found in small businesses where print volumes are
low.
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Where faster print speeds and lower cost of ownership are desired, color laser and color solid ink dominate.  Color
laser printers are very similar to monochrome laser printers, except they use four color cartridges instead of a single
black cartridge.  Solid ink printers, on the other hand, utilize a very different technology from that of laser.  These
printers consume solid ink sticks, again in four colors.  Solid ink sticks can be thought of as large crayons, which
when placed into the printer, are melted and “jetted.”

Business color printers consume a number of supply items including toner cartridges or solid ink sticks, imaging units,
fuser units and waste bottles.  There are typically four toner cartridges or solid inks in a color printer:  Cyan, Magenta,
Yellow and Black.  Through the combination of these four colors, printed pages with millions of colors can be
produced.

While color laser printers are available from all of the major printer vendors, only Xerox has been successful in
commercializing solid ink for the office environment.  As a result, roughly 95% of the color business printer market is
laser based, and only 5% solid ink based.

Color Business Printer Supplies
The dominant sources of color printer supplies are the printer manufacturers or Original Equipment Manufacturers
(OEMs) themselves. These manufacturers generally discount the cost of the printer hardware to gain market share in
an effort to capture the recurring profitable revenue stream of supplies.  Further, the strength of their established
brands and distribution often result in their product being the only option offered to a consumer.

Today, the market is robust for monochrome aftermarket cartridges.  Aftermarket cartridges are those that are
manufactured by companies other than the printer manufacturer.  Approximately 32% of the monochrome cartridges
currently being purchased are aftermarket cartridges.  In contrast, only 8% of the color laser cartridges being
purchased are aftermarket cartridges.  As the market matures, we believe that the color market will ultimately mirror
the monochrome market with the aftermarket achieving an aggregate share of shipments of 25-30%.

Industrial Printers
Industrial printers are used in manufacturing environments to print date codes, lot codes, bar codes, graphics and other
information on products and packaging.  These coders may be single color devices, or may print full color graphics.

Industrial printers generally consume relatively high volumes of ink as they may run 24 hours a day, 365 days of the
year.  Because of the high volume, high speed manufacturing environments in which these printers are present, they
are a mission critical component in the manufacturing process.

As with the business color market, the primary source of supplies for industrial printers is the manufacturer of the
printer itself.  Aside from the coder manufacturers, we are not aware of any other competition for our industrial solid
inks.  In the industrial marking space, as in the business color market, price is the primary reason for adoption of
aftermarket supplies.

Growth Strategy

Media Sciences’ growth has been, and will continue to be driven by three factors:  overall market growth, new product
development and an increase in market penetration for our existing and new products.  To support our growth in an
increasingly competitive environment, we strive to vertically integrate our toner based product engineering with
manufacturing capability.

The goal of our product development group is to increase the percentage of the color printer market for which we
manufacture supplies.  Our decision as to which products to bring to market is impacted by the size of a target
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installed base, the distribution required to bring those supplies to the market, the existence within our product line of
supplies for use in other printers by that same OEM (a line extension), the margin structure of the proposed product,
the costs and time to develop the product.
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The vast majority of the business color market is toner based.  And, since we already manufacture supplies for
substantially the entire color solid ink installed base, we expect the growth of our color toner cartridge revenues to
outpace the growth of our solid ink revenues for the foreseeable future.

Concurrent with the goal of increasing our available market, we are focused on increasing our market share for the
products we manufacture.  We are doing so by seeking to develop distribution partners that typically serve larger end
users and/or unique geographic territories.

Principal Products

We currently offer color toner cartridges and solid ink for use in nine printer brands and over 100 printer
models.  Typically, our products are priced to the end user at a 25-40% discount from the printer manufacturers brand
supplies.

Solid Ink.  We manufacture and distribute solid ink sticks for use in substantially all business color solid ink
printers.  Our solid inks offer the end user the opportunity to save 30-40% on their solid inks purchases versus buying
the Xerox® brand.

We have also developed and commercialized application specific solid inks on behalf of certain industrial printer
manufacturers.

Toner Cartridges.  Our Clearcase toner cartridges are newly manufactured, not remanufactured, and offer the end user
the opportunity to save up to 30% on their color toner cartridge purchases versus the OEM brand.  Our Clearcase
cartridges feature a unique clear case allowing the user to see the color toner within the cartridge.  This provides both
functional and aesthetic benefits to the end user.

We currently sell toner cartridges for use in over 100 color laser printers manufactured by Xerox®, Konica-Minolta®,
Oki®, Epson®, Brother®, Dell®, Samsung® and Ricoh®.

Branding

We sell our products under the Media Sciences brand, and in a non-branded form.  In fiscal 2010, our revenue mix of
Media Sciences branded products to non-branded was 76:24.  Brand development is a priority for us.  We believe that
by improving the recognition and value of the Media Sciences brand, we will be less susceptible to abrupt shifts in
demand for our products as competition enters the market.  We believe the sale of Media Sciences branded product
will remain at approximately 75% of revenues for the foreseeable future.

In addition to our Media Sciences and non-branded packaging, we have the ability to develop private brand programs
for large, national or international entities that have developed significant brand equity and wish to extend their brand
to our products.

Distribution Methods of the Products and Programs

We distribute products to our customers in the United States from our Oakland, New Jersey facility.  We distribute
products to our customers throughout Western Europe from our third party logistics provider in the
Netherlands.  Approximately 65% of our sales are in the United States, with a majority of the balance of our sales in
Western Europe.
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We sell our products through a network of distributors, wholesalers and dealers.  We directly employ sales personnel
in the United States and Europe.  In the United States, we augment our sales team with manufacturer’s representative
organizations in the office products channel.  We do not sell our products directly to end users.

Our primary goal in building our distribution channels is to have our products readily available to the end
users.  Consequently, we strive to mirror the distribution points of the printer manufacturers, and add additional,
unique, distribution points that serve the cost-conscious end user.
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Sales and Marketing Plans

We believe the market share of our products is in the low single digits.  The primary function of our sales and
marketing efforts is to increase the market share for the products we manufacture.  To do so, we seek to increase end
user awareness of Media Sciences products and to support and enable our distribution partners’ sales of our products.

Media Sciences’ historical growth in the United States has been driven by distribution partners solely focused on
printer supplies.  However, we believe that the technology and office products channels serve more than 75% of the
potential market.  Further, these channels (wholesalers, dealers and end users) typically value those traits core to our
products – quality, support, warranty and intellectual property compliance, more than does the imaging supplies
channel, which is driven by the price sensitive internet.

In our estimation, the most significant opportunity for revenue (and revenue growth) exists within the office products
channel and secondarily in the technology channel.  To that end, we have increased the resources that we are
mobilizing within these two channels.

In Europe, our focus is on supporting the differing needs of our partners in each country.  In Europe however, as in the
United States, we expect the office products channel to be a significant channel for business color printer supplies.  In
order to pursue these opportunities, we recruited a pan-European office products sales director to address the unique
needs of that channel.

Our end user marketing activities are primarily focused on Fortune 1000 companies and other large color printer
installations.  These activities, executed in concert with channel partners, include identifying large opportunities and
pursuing them by consulting with the individual(s) within the target organization responsible for evaluating, selecting
and purchasing color printer supplies, so that they can make an informed decision on Media Sciences as an alternative
to the printer manufacturers brand of supplies.

Our marketing efforts include advertising in trade publications, direct mail, catalog placements, Internet banners and
other organic and pay per click efforts, blitz days, trade shows and more.  Some of these efforts are funded directly by
Media Sciences, while others are funded by the channel partner and reimbursed through discretionary marketing
funds.

Competition

Media Sciences competes primarily with the original manufacturer (the OEM) of the printers for which we provide
supplies, including Xerox®, Konica-Minolta®, Oki®, Epson®, Brother®, Dell®, Samsung® and Ricoh®. These
competitors use several tactics to limit the penetration of aftermarket supplies such as those offered by Media
Sciences.  These tactics include protecting their technology through the use of patents, the development of sales and
marketing programs that provide for incentives to distributors, wholesalers and dealers who sell exclusively the printer
manufacturers’ brand supplies (loyalty programs), and through campaigns intended to instill fear, uncertainty and
doubt about the quality of third party supplies into the minds of the end user.  Media Sciences competes with these
manufacturers primarily by offering a compelling value proposition of quality, value (through lower end user costs
and higher channel margins) and choice.

We believe we have been significantly impacted by loyalty programs.  In January 2006, Xerox instituted loyalty
rebate programs at the distributor and wholesaler level.  Prior to that time, Xerox’s loyalty programs were limited to
dealers.  Through these programs, the distributor, wholesaler or dealer is offered substantial rebates that are contingent
upon that distributor, wholesaler or dealer selling exclusively Xerox brand solid inks.
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We have also seen an increase in competition from other aftermarket participants.  Aftermarket competition can be
categorized as remanufactured product or “new build.”  A remanufactured product is produced by procuring,
disassembling and cleaning used OEM cartridges, and then replacing certain parts and refilling the
cartridge.  Consistent quality and source of supply are challenging to remanufacturers of color toner cartridges.
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Because of the challenges associated with remanufacturing color toner cartridges, there has been an increase in other
new build color cartridges in the market.  While building a new cartridge addresses the source of supply issues, quality
remains a significant issue for these competitive entities as does respect for the intellectual property rights of the
printer manufacturers.

Media Sciences’ value proposition versus other aftermarket competition remains strong.  While these competitive
products can be purchased less expensively than Media Sciences products, our combination of consistent high quality,
intellectual property compliance backed up with indemnification for anyone who buys, sells or uses our products,
strong channel support, and warranty remain unique.  While certain classes of customers will look only to price, we
believe that an overwhelming majority of potential business customers, who are our target market, do and will value
more than just price.

Research and Development

We define the aggregate of all business color printers sold in a trailing three year period as the installed base.  Based
on Media Sciences products available for sale at June 30, 2010, we believe we manufacture supplies for use in
approximately 20% of the overall installed base of business color printers in the United States and Western Europe.

We direct our research, engineering and development efforts primarily toward developing new products and processes
and improving existing product performance.  We strive to shorten our development times, bring products to market
more quickly, and develop more products.

We have five goals in new product development:

•  Non-infringing
•  Highest quality
•  1st to market
•  Exclusivity
•  Lowest cost

For our solid ink products, all aspects of research, engineering and development are conducted by Media
Sciences.  This includes formulation and ink stick shape design.  As such, we have control over product specifications,
costs and development timelines.

For our toner cartridge products, we currently partner with other firms for cartridge engineering and raw toner
formulation and development.  Consequently, we do not have the same level of control over color toner cartridge
development that we have over our solid inks.

Intellectual Property

Although we believe the ownership of patents, copyrights, trademarks and service marks is an important factor in our
business and that our success depends in part on the ownership thereof, the Company relies primarily on the
innovative skills, technical competence, and marketing abilities of its personnel.  Our success depends, to a large
extent, on our ability to protect our proprietary technology.  We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark,
service mark and trade secret rights, and confidentiality procedures to establish and protect our proprietary rights.  As
part of our confidentiality procedures, we generally enter into non-disclosure agreements with our employees,
distributors and corporate partners with respect to our documentation and other proprietary information.  We have
registered certain trademarks in the United States and have applied for the registration of other trademarks in the
United States.  In 2004, we were granted certain patents in the United States, the terms of which are 14 years, and in
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Dependence on Major Customers

Three customers collectively represented 42% of our net revenues in fiscal 2010 and 38% of accounts receivable at
June 30, 2010.  Four customers represented 55% of our net revenues in fiscal 2009 and 47% of our accounts
receivable at June 30, 2009.  Among this group, the largest two customers represented 18% and 14%, respectively, of
our net revenues and 21% and 12% of our accounts receivable at June 30, 2009.

Principal Suppliers

Some key components and raw materials, including certain toners and electronic chips, may be obtained only from a
single supplier or a limited group of suppliers, either because alternative sources are not available or the relationship is
advantageous due to performance, quality, support, delivery, capacity, or price considerations.  Even where alternative
sources of supply may be available, qualification of the alternative suppliers and establishment of reliable supplies
could result in delays and a possible loss of sales.

In fiscal 2010, one vendor represented 13% of our cost of goods sold.  No other vendor represented 10% or more of
our costs of goods sold in fiscal 2010.   In fiscal 2009, one vendor represented 13% of our cost of goods sold.  No
other vendor represented 10% or more of our costs of goods sold in fiscal 2009.

Need for Government Approval

Not applicable.

Government Regulation

Not applicable.

Compliance with Environmental Laws

Not applicable.

Employees

We currently have 62 employees, who all work on a full-time basis.

ITEM 1A.       RISK FACTORS

We are subject to certain risks in our business operations. We have identified below certain risks which we believe
may affect our business and the principal ways in which we anticipate that they may affect our business or financial
condition. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known or that are currently deemed immaterial may also impair our business operations. If
any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected. In addition, the current global economic climate amplifies many of these risks.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CORE BUSINESS OPERATIONS
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The current global economic weakness and any further deterioration of the global economic environment could
negatively impact our business, working capital, liquidity, access to the credit markets and business prospects.

The current weakness in the global economic environment and the credit and financial markets could negatively
impact our business in several ways. For instance,  increases in unemployment rates, declines in the equity markets, a
tightening of credit availability, and concerns about the general health of the global economy have led to a significant
decline in consumer  and business confidence and consumer and business spending, which has caused
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and may continue to cause  our customers to delay purchasing or determine not to purchase our products, or cause our
customers to extend or implement inventory management programs and consequently adversely affect our financial
performance. Other factors that could adversely affect the demand for our products and consequently our financial
performance include currency exchange rate fluctuations, interest rate fluctuations, fuel and other energy costs,
inflation or deflation of commodity prices, slower rates of growth in real disposable personal income, and other
factors beyond our control

We are at a competitive disadvantage because we operate in a market that is dominated by companies that are the
original manufacturers of printers for which we supply products.

As a third party supplier of color printer consumables, we compete with original equipment printer manufacturers
(OEMs) who are the dominant sources of color printer supplies. We are at a competitive disadvantage with these
manufacturers who discount the cost of the printer hardware to gain market share, in an effort to capture the recurring
profitable revenue stream of supplies, and the strength of their established brands and distribution often result in their
product being the only option offered to a consumer. We compete with these manufacturers primarily by offering a
compelling value proposition of quality, lower cost and choice, but if we are unable to compete with the OEMs, it
could adversely affect our revenue and profitability through price reductions and loss of market share. Our most
formidable competition in the color business printer space is the incumbent OEM. Our OEM competitors include
Xerox, Oki, Konica Minolta, Dell, Samsung, Ricoh and Epson. In most cases, these OEMs enjoy market shares well
in excess of 95%; some with market shares as high as 99%. These OEMs have certain inherent advantages due to the
fact that they manufacturer the subject printers for which we produce competing solid ink and toner consumables.
These OEM competitors also have much greater financial, technical, marketing, name recognition, and other
resources. These competitors use several tactics to limit the penetration of supplies offered by their competitors,
including the development of sales and marketing programs that provide for incentives to distributors, wholesalers and
dealers that sell exclusively the printer manufacturers’ brand supplies, and through campaigns intended to instill doubt
about the quality of third party supplies into the minds of the end user.

If we do not effectively compete with new and existing competitors, our revenues and operating margins will decline.

The principal competitive factors in our products include: price, product performance and quality, time to market,
marketing and access to distribution channels, product warranty, customer services, and product design. If we do not
sufficiently differentiate our products on these factors, we may not be able to compete successfully against current and
future competitors, and competitive pressures and functionally competitive products could require us to reduce the
price of our products, and our business, operating results and financial condition will suffer. We expect competition to
increase in the future from existing competitors and a number of companies that may enter our existing or future
markets. The printer consumable industry is highly competitive on both a worldwide basis and a regional geographic
basis. Our competitors and potential competitors range from large international original equipment printer
manufacturers to numerous large and small providers of discounted remanufactured product. Some of our current and
potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, sales and marketing resources than we have, and
they may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties,
thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of their current and prospective customers.
Accordingly, it is possible that new competitors or alliances among current and new competitors may emerge and
rapidly gain significant market share and production economies. Such competition could materially adversely affect
our ability to sell our products on terms favorable to us.

We may need to change our pricing models to compete successfully.

The highly competitive markets in which we compete can put pressure on us to reduce the prices of our products. As a
result, we may not be able to maintain our historical prices and margins, which could adversely affect our business,
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results of operations and financial condition. We believe that competition will increase in the future, which could
require us to reduce prices, increase advertising expenditures or take other actions which may have an adverse effect
on our operating results. Decreasing prices resulting from competition and technological changes require us to sell a
greater number of products to achieve the same level of net revenues and gross profit. If this occurs and we are unable
to attract new customers and sell increased quantities of products, our revenue growth and profitability could
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be adversely affected. Any broad-based changes to our prices and pricing policies could cause our revenues to decline
or be delayed as our sales force implements, and our customers adjust to, the new pricing policies. Some of our
competitors may bundle products for promotional purposes or as a long-term pricing strategy or provide guarantees of
prices and product implementations. These practices could, over time, significantly constrain the prices that we can
charge for our products.

We rely on a small number of suppliers to provide key components for our products.

Our manufacturing process requires a high volume of quality raw materials and components from third-party
suppliers. Our reliance on a small number of suppliers may result in product delays or price increases, and receipt of
defective products from these suppliers could reduce product reliability and harm our reputation. We generally
purchase raw materials, components and products using purchase orders and have no guaranteed supply arrangements
with the suppliers; however, we use some components that are not common to the rest of the personal computer and
consumer electronics industries, and a number of our products utilize custom components. Some key components and
raw materials, including certain toners and electronic chips, may be obtained only from a single supplier or a limited
group of suppliers, either because alternative sources are not available or the relationship is advantageous due to
performance, quality, support, delivery, capacity, or price considerations.

From time to time, vendors may cease to do business with us for various reasons, or change pricing or other terms and
conditions. Any such termination or the implementation of such changes could have a material adverse impact on our
financial results. The loss of, or change in, business relationship with key suppliers, could negatively impact our
competitive position. Additionally, a merger or consolidation among our suppliers could result in price increases
which would adversely impact our results of operations.

Even where alternative sources of supply may be available, qualification of the alternative suppliers and establishment
of reliable supplies could result in delays and a possible loss of sales, which could have a material adverse affect on
our financial performance. Moreover, if actual demand for our products is different than expected, we may purchase
more or fewer parts than necessary or incur costs for canceling, postponing or expediting delivery of products. Any or
all of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on indirect distribution channels and major distributors that we do not control, and any failure to maintain
on-going sales through, or expand, distribution channels could result in lower revenues.

We rely significantly on independent distributors and resellers to market and distribute our products. We do not
control our distributors and resellers, and they are not obligated to buy our products and could also represent other
lines of products. We need to carefully monitor the scope and development of our indirect sales channels and create
appropriate pricing, sales force compensation and other distribution parameters to maintain on-going sales and to
expand distribution channels, or our revenues and/or profits may be reduced. Our ability to achieve revenue growth in
the future will depend in large part on our success in maintaining existing relationships and further establishing and
expanding relationships with new distributors and resellers. It is possible that we will not be able to successfully
expand our distribution channels, secure business with additional distributors and resellers on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, or otherwise adequately continue to develop and maintain our existing distribution
relationships. Additionally, as we attempt to attract and penetrate additional distributors and resellers, we may need to
increase corporate branding and marketing activities, which could increase our operating expenses, and even if we
invest resources in these types of expansion, our overall revenues may not correspondingly increase. Accordingly,
these efforts, if not sufficiently effective, may actually reduce our profits.

Additionally, some of our distributors and resellers maintain inventories of our products for resale to their customers.
If distributors and resellers reduce their inventory of our products, our business could be adversely affected. Further,
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we could maintain individually significant accounts receivable balances with certain distributors. The financial
condition of our distributors could deteriorate and distributors could significantly delay or default on their payment
obligations. Any significant delays or defaults could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
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We are dependent on commercial delivery services for delivery of raw materials and finished goods as well as
delivery of our products to customers.

We generally ship our products in from our suppliers and to our customers by common carrier, including, but not
limited to Concordia, DHL, FedEx, United Parcel Service, Lehman and Kesco. If we are unable to pass on to our
customers future increases in the costs of our commercial delivery services, our profitability could be adversely
affected. Additionally, strikes or other service interruptions by such shippers could adversely affect our ability to
deliver products on a timely basis.

Our business is dependent on the continued growth of color printing as we derive revenues from a single group of
similar and related products.

Our revenues are derived primarily from a single group of similar and related products, supplies for color printers, and
a decline in demand or prices for these products or services could substantially adversely affect our operating results.
We currently derive the majority of our revenues from the sale of solid ink sticks and toner cartridges for color
business printers. We expect these products to continue to account for the majority of our revenues in the future. As a
result, factors adversely affecting the pricing of or demand for such products, including difficult economic conditions,
any decline in overall market demand, competition, product performance or technological change, could have a
material adverse effect on our business and consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

Our future growth is expected to be achieved through the development and introduction of new products, increasing
market penetration of our existing products, and continuation of the trend in growth of color printing. There are
substantial risks that we will be unable to realize any or all of this expected growth. Nor can we provide any assurance
that new products we introduce will be successful in the market. All of our new product initiatives have substantial,
entrenched OEM competitors with greater resources and experience in these product areas. There can be no
assurances that all or any of these new products will be successful and contribute to profitability or growth.

Historically, a few customers have accounted for a large percentage of our revenues. The loss of a significant
customer would significantly reduce our revenues.

Our customer base is relatively concentrated. In our 2010 and 2009 fiscal years, three customers accounted for
approximately 42% and two customers accounted for approximately 32%, respectively, of our entire net revenues. For
the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to have a relatively highly concentrated customer base, and the loss of a
significant customer would substantially reduce our revenues. In addition, the mix and type of customers, and sales to
any single customer, may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year. If customers do not place
orders, or delay or cancel orders, we may not be able to replace the business. Any changing, rescheduling or canceling
orders by these customers may result in a significant decline in our revenues and profitability. Major customers may
also seek and on occasion receive pricing, payment terms or other conditions that are less favorable to us. In addition,
certain customers may form strategic alliances or collaborative efforts that could result in additional complexities in
managing individual customer relationships and transactions. These factors could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our product warranty and related expenses associated with the program could harm our revenues, substantially
increase our costs, and cause volatility in our results of operations.

Our warranty provides in most cases, broader and more complete coverage than that provided by the original
equipment printer manufacturer. Our warranty program exposes us to substantial costs that could harm our revenues,
profit margins, and cause substantial volatility in our results of operations. We provide warranties for our products as
to suitability for use in the intended printer models and that our products are free of defects that could cause damage to
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new or refurbished printer, at our sole discretion.
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Some of the products we offer are internally complex and, despite extensive testing and quality control, may contain
defects. We may encounter problems in the manufacture of our products that would reduce our profit margins or
increase operating costs and lead to less interest in our products. Because we provide warranties to our customers, we
may incur costs with remedying the problem. We may need to recall defective products if these defects are not
discovered until after commercial shipment, issue credits to customers, impair and dispose of substantial inventories,
and may incur substantial product warranty and service costs if our products damage customer printers. Any product
defects could also cause damage to our reputation and result in loss of revenues, product returns or order cancellations,
lack of market acceptance of our products, as well as increase our product warranty or service costs. Accordingly, any
product defects could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are exposed to inventory risks which could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

We are particularly exposed to inventory risks as a result of our long product supply chain, particularly for toner-based
products, and the resulting higher levels of inventory we maintain as a result. Although our products have a long and
stable shelf-life, we are particularly subject to rapid technological changes that affect the market and pricing for the
products we sell. We seek to minimize our inventory exposure through a variety of inventory management procedures
and policies. However, if there were unforeseen product developments that created more rapid obsolescence or if
vendors were to change their terms and conditions, our inventory risks could increase. We cannot guarantee that we
will be successful in our efforts to mitigate our inventory risk and, in fact, many of the competitive and technological
factors that drive this risk are beyond our control.

Covenants in our debt instruments could trigger a default adversely affecting our ability to execute our business plan,
our ability to obtain further financing, and potentially adversely affect the ownership of our assets.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default under any of our loan agreements, the lenders could elect to declare all
amounts outstanding thereunder to be immediately due and payable, and terminate all commitments to extend further
debt. If the lenders accelerate the repayment of borrowings, we cannot provide assurance that we will have sufficient
assets to repay our debt facilities and our other indebtedness or be able to implement our business plan. If we are
unable to repay our outstanding indebtedness, the bank could foreclose on all of our assets, which collateralize our
borrowings. Accordingly, the occurrence of an event of default could have a material adverse affect on our financial
position, results of operations, and our viability as a going concern.

We have been subject to financial and other covenants in our current and former credit facilities. Our current financial
covenants include monitoring a ratio of debt to tangible net worth and an ebitda or a fixed charge coverage ratio, as
defined in the loan agreements. Over the past year we have been out of compliance with certain financial covenants,
which in each instance, was waived by our lenders. Our ability to meet our financial and other covenants can be
affected by economic, market, and competitive events beyond our control.  Although we believe based on our current
projections that we will be in compliance with our covenants as amended, we can provide no assurance that we will be
in compliance in the future. Nor can we provide any assurance that should we again be out of compliance with our
covenants that our lenders will provide future waivers.

We may seek to raise capital in the future to fund expansion plans, our ability to do so may be limited, and our failure
to raise capital when needed could prevent us from growing.

We expect to make continued investment in product development, and sales and marketing, and develop our
manufacturing operations in an effort to grow our business and improve profitability. We may find that our expansion
plans are more costly than we currently anticipate and that they do not ultimately result in commensurate increases in
our sales, which would further increase our losses.
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Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our operations and product development,
including the payment of cash consideration in any potential acquisitions, and the payment of our other obligations,
depends on a range of economic, competitive and business factors, many of which are outside our control. We cannot
provide assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that we will be able
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to sell assets or raise equity or debt financings when needed or on desirable terms. An inability to fund our operations
or fulfill outstanding obligations, whether as a result of an inability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or
otherwise, could cause us to delay or postpone our expansion plans, which would have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  Therefore, we may need to seek additional equity or debt
financing. The sale of additional equity securities or debt securities would result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. Additional debt would result in increased expenses and could result in covenants that would restrict our
operations. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, this would significantly limit
our ability to support our expansion, take advantage of unanticipated opportunities such as acquisitions of businesses
or technologies, develop or enhance products, or respond to competitive pressures.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS AND SENSITIVITY
TO ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Commodity price fluctuations may increase our cost of goods and adversely affect our results.

A large percentage of our products utilize petroleum, flax and soybean-based materials and paper and corrugated
packaging. Volatility in the prices of these commodities could increase the costs of our products, which we may not be
able to pass on to our customers, and thereby adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.

Our international operations exposes us to currency risks.

Net revenue outside the U.S. accounted for approximately 27% of our consolidated net revenue in fiscal 2010. These
non-U.S. sales are primarily concentrated in Western Europe and are expected to grow at a rate faster than our U.S.
business.

Our international business is subject to a number of risks, including unexpected changes in regulatory practices and
tariffs, longer collection cycles, seasonality, potential changes in export licensing and tax laws. The impact of
fluctuating exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies in markets where we do business may
significantly impact our revenues. For example, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could have an unexpected adverse
impact on our international revenue. If the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the European currencies were to
significantly increase, it could have an unexpected adverse impact on our revenues, profits and other operating results.
General economic and political conditions in these foreign markets may also impact our international revenues, as
such conditions may cause decreases in demand or impact our ability to collect payment from our customers. There
can be no assurances that these factors and other factors will not have a material adverse effect on our future
international revenues and consequently on our business and consolidated financial condition and results of
operations.

Local laws in effect or that may be enacted in foreign jurisdictions may afford less protection to holders of our
securities than those in effect in the United States.

We presently have four non-U.S. subsidiaries, Media Sciences U.K. Limited, Media Sciences Trading Ltd. (a
Bermudan entity), Media Sciences (Dongguan) Company Limited (a Peoples Republic of China entity), SAMC
Funding I Limited (a Cayman Islands entity) and Media Sciences Hong Kong Co. Ltd. (a Hong Kong entity). These
foreign subsidiaries are organized under the laws of their respective jurisdictions. Thus, holders of our securities
should not conclude that assets and interests held by such foreign subsidiaries are subject to the same protections
afforded similar entities incorporated in a United States jurisdiction.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR TECHNOLOGY AND THE NATURE OF OUR PRODUCTS
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We operate in an industry characterized by increasingly rapid technological changes and our sales are dependent on
the continued development of new technologies and products.

The markets for our products and services are characterized by: rapid technological change; increasing technical
complexity of the products, for example, new chemical toners and use of complex new chip technologies; evolving
industry standards; fluctuations in customer demand; changes in customer requirements; and frequent new product
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and service introductions and enhancements. Our future success depends on our ability to continually enhance our
current products and develop and introduce new products and services that our customers choose to buy, and the
failure to do so could render our products and services obsolete and result in a significant decrease in sales of our
products and services. The timely availability of marketable new products is critical to our future success. We cannot
guarantee that we will be successful in this effort. Our future success could be hindered by: delays in our introduction
of new products and services; delays in market acceptance of new products and services or new releases of our current
products and services; and our, or a competitor’s, announcement of new product or service enhancements or
technologies that could replace or shorten the life cycle of our existing product and service offerings.

Execution risks associated with product development and introduction are significant and could reduce the demand for
our products and the profitability of our operations.

Continuing improvements in technology mean frequent new product introductions, short product life cycles, and
improvement in product performance characteristics. New product introductions present execution challenges and
risks for us. If we are unable to effectively manage a product introduction, our business and results of operations could
be unfavorably affected.

Our success is subject to many risks, including, but not limited to, our ability to timely and cost-effectively: (1)
develop and market new products and price products appropriately; (2) improve existing products and increase market
share in our existing markets; (3) expand into or develop related and new markets for our technology; (4) achieve
market acceptance of, and accurately forecast demand and meet production schedules for, our products; (5) achieve
cost efficiencies across product offerings; (6) adapt to technology changes in related markets; (7) adapt to changes in
value offered by companies in different parts of the supply chain; (8) qualify products for volume manufacturing with
our customers; and (9) successfully implement improvements in our manufacturing process. Furthermore, new or
improved products may involve higher costs and reduced efficiencies compared to our more established products and
could adversely affect our gross margins. In addition, we must successfully implement changes in our design
engineering methodology, including changes that result in: significant decreases in material costs and cycle time;
greater commonality of components and types of parts used in different products; and effective product life cycle
management. If we do not successfully manage these challenges, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We cannot guarantee that our products will achieve the broad market acceptance by our channel and entities with
which we have a technology relationship, customers and prospective customers necessary to generate significant
revenue. In addition, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to respond effectively to technological changes or new
product announcements by others. If we experience material delays or sales shortfalls with respect to our new products
and services or new releases of our current products and services, those delays or shortfalls could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our intellectual property and other proprietary rights could offer only limited protection.

Our success depends, to a large extent, on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination
of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, trade secret rights, and confidentiality procedures to establish and
protect our proprietary rights. As part of our confidentiality procedures, we generally enter into non-disclosure
agreements with our employees, distributors and corporate partners with respect to our documentation and other
proprietary information. Despite precautions we may take to protect our intellectual property, we can provide no
assurance that third parties will not try to challenge, invalidate or circumvent these safeguards. It is possible that other
companies could successfully challenge the validity or scope of our current or future patents or that our competitors
may independently develop similar technology, duplicate our products, or design around patents and other intellectual
property rights that we hold. We also cannot provide assurance that the rights granted under our patents or attendant to
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our other intellectual property will provide us with any competitive advantages, or that patents will be issued on any
of our pending applications, or that future patents will be sufficiently broad to protect our technology. Furthermore,
the laws of foreign countries may not protect our proprietary rights in those countries to the same extent as applicable
law protects these rights in the United States. Failure to protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse
affect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Existing and future claims of intellectual property infringement against us could seriously harm our business.

We are subject to legal proceedings and claims that our products infringe certain patent or other intellectual property
rights, and the loss of any such lawsuit could have a material adverse affect on our business of supplying color printer
consumables. It is possible that third parties, including competitors, technology partners, and other technology
companies, could claim that our current or future products, whether developed internally or acquired, infringe their
rights, including their trade secret, copyright and patent rights. These types of claims, with or without merit, can cause
costly litigation that absorbs significant management time, as well as impede our sales efforts due to any uncertainty
as to the outcome, all of which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition. These types of claims, with or without merit, could also cause us to pay substantial damages or settlement
amounts, cease offering of any subject technology or products altogether, require us to enter into royalty or license
agreements, and damage our ability to sell products due to any uncertainty generated as to intellectual property
ownership. Further, if we are successful in challenging the validity of third party patents or other intellectual property,
we may make it easier for other competitors to enter the market.

Because of technological changes in our industry, current extensive patent coverage, and the rapid rate of issuance of
new patents, it is possible that certain of our products, including products obtained through acquisitions, components,
and business methods may unknowingly infringe existing patents of others. We attempt to ensure that products we
develop or acquire, and our processes, do not infringe upon third party patents and other proprietary rights. We
typically conduct as many as three independent intellectual property reviews as an integral part of our product
development process: an extensive in-house review, a review by external counsel, and our key suppliers conduct their
own review. Before product launch, these independent reviews are compared and reconciled. Despite these efforts, we
cannot guarantee that this process will be effective in preventing the infringement of the patent rights of others.

We do not believe that any currently pending or threatened litigation, based on our assessment of merit, will have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition. However, the litigation process is inherently expensive, uncertain
and includes the risk of an unexpected, unfavorable result. Accordingly, it is possible in the future that the eventual
outcome of litigation could materially and adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

OTHER BUSINESS RISKS

If we fail to manage our operations and grow revenues or fail to continue to effectively control expenses, our future
operating results could be adversely affected.

The scope of our operations and the geographic area of our operations have expanded. Future growth could place a
significant strain on our managerial, operational and financial resources. To manage any future growth effectively, we
need to continue to implement and improve additional management and financial systems and controls. We may not
be able to manage the current scope of our operations or future growth effectively and still exploit market
opportunities for our products and services in a timely and cost-effective way.

We can provide no assurance that the market we serve will continue to grow. We also can provide no assurance that
we will be successful in developing and introducing new products or that any new products we may introduce will
actually increase our revenue growth rate.  If we experience a shortfall in revenue in any given quarter, due to the
fixed nature of many of our expenses, we may not be able to further reduce operating expenses quickly in response.
Any significant shortfall in revenue therefore could immediately and adversely affect our results of operations for that
quarter. Accordingly, our revenue growth, profitability and cash flows from operating activities could be lower than in
recent years.
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We may not be able to hire and retain qualified employees and key executive and management personnel to manage
and execute our business plan.

Our success depends, in large part, upon the services of a number of key employees. Other than our founder and Chief
Executive Officer, Michael W. Levin, with whom we have had written employment agreements and for whom we
maintain a key-person life insurance policy, our executive officers and key employees are at-will employees.  There is
competition for these types of employees and it is possible that we will not be able to retain our key
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employees and that we will not be successful in attracting, assimilating and retaining qualified candidates in the
future.

Disruption of our operations at our corporate headquarters could negatively impact our ability to operate

Although we have multiple sales office locations in the United States and an office in Western Europe, essentially all
of our computer equipment, intellectual property resources and personnel, including critical resources dedicated to
research and development, manufacturing and administrative support functions, are presently located at our corporate
headquarters in Oakland, New Jersey. The occurrence of natural disasters or other unanticipated catastrophes could
cause interruptions in our operations. Extensive or multiple interruptions in our operations due to natural disasters or
unanticipated catastrophes could severely disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The success of our business depends on the continuing development, maintenance and operation of our information
technology systems.

Our success is dependent on the accuracy, proper utilization and continuing development of our information
technology systems, including our business application systems, web servers and telecommunications network. The
quality and our utilization of the information generated by our information technology systems, and our success in
implementing new systems and upgrades, affects, among other things, our ability to:

•  conduct business with our customers;
•  manage our inventory and accounts receivable;

•  purchase, sell, ship and invoice our products efficiently and on a timely basis; and
•  maintain our cost-efficient operating model.

The integrity of our information technology systems is vulnerable to certain forms of disaster including, but not
limited to, natural disasters such as tornadoes. While we have taken steps to protect our information technology
systems from a variety of threats, including computer viruses and malicious hackers, there can be no guarantee that
those steps will be effective. Furthermore, although we have redundant systems at a separate location to back up our
primary application systems, there can be no assurance that these redundant systems will operate properly if and when
required. Any disruption to or infiltration of our information technology systems could significantly harm our business
and results of operations.

We have operations, clients, and vendors throughout the world. Our operations are dependent upon the connectivity of
our operations throughout the world. Activities that interfere with our international connectivity, such as computer
“hacking” or the introduction of a virus into our computer systems, could significantly interfere with our business
operations.

RISKS RELATED TO ACQUISITIONS AND ALLIANCES

We are exposed to risks associated with acquisitions.

From our inception in May 1987, we have made a number of strategic acquisitions. We intend to continue to address
the need to develop new products and enhance existing products through acquisitions of other companies, product
lines and/or technologies. Our growth is dependent upon market growth, growth in market share, our ability to
enhance existing products and services, and our ability to introduce new products on a timely basis.
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In the future we may acquire, or make significant investments in, businesses to achieve our strategic objectives. While
we expect to carefully analyze each potential acquisition before committing to the transaction, we may not be able to
integrate and manage acquired products and businesses effectively. We cannot assure anyone that our previous
acquisitions or any future acquisitions will be successful in helping us reach our financial and strategic goals either for
that acquisition or for us generally. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including but not limited
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to: (1) diversion of management’s attention from other operational matters; (2) inability to complete acquisitions as
anticipated or at all; (3) inability to realize synergies expected to result from an acquisition; (4) failure to
commercialize purchased technologies; (5) ineffectiveness of an acquired company’s internal controls; (6) impairment
of acquired assets as a result of technological advancements or worse-than-expected performance of the acquired
company or its product offerings; (7) unknown, underestimated and/or undisclosed commitments or liabilities,
including those related to an acquired company’s product quality or unauthorized use of a third-party’s intellectual
property; (8) substantial unanticipated costs; (9) material product liability or intellectual property liability associated
with the sale of the acquired company’s products; (10) failure to integrate and retain key employees; and (11)
ineffective integration of operations. Mergers and acquisitions are inherently subject to significant risks, and the
inability to effectively manage these risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, acquisitions also expose us to the risk of claims by terminated employees, stockholders of the acquired
companies or other third parties related to the transaction. If we undertake future acquisitions, we may expend cash
resources, issue dilutive securities, assume or incur additional debt obligations, incur large one-time expenses, and
acquire intangible assets that would result in significant future amortization expense.  Any of these events could have
a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. In a number of our prior
acquisitions, we have agreed to make future payments, or earn-outs, based on the performance of the businesses we
acquired. The performance goals pursuant to which these future payments may be made generally relate to
achievement by the acquired business of certain specified bookings, revenue, product proliferation, and product
development or employee retention goals during a specified period following completion of the applicable acquisition.

If we determine that any of our goodwill or intangible assets, including technology purchased in acquisitions, are
impaired, we would be required to take a charge to earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles require purchased goodwill be periodically reviewed for impairment at
least annually. Impairment could be caused by internal factors as well as external factors beyond our control. It has
further been determined that at the time goodwill is considered impaired, an amount equal to the impairment loss
should be charged as an operating expense in the statement of operations. The timing of such an impairment (if any)
of goodwill acquired in past and future transactions is uncertain and difficult to predict. Our results of operations in
periods following any such impairment could be materially adversely affected. In the quarter ended June 30, 2005, we
took an asset impairment charge of $0.9 million related to past acquisitions. We have remaining net goodwill and net
acquired intangible assets of approximately $3.6 million at June 30, 2010, so if we are required to take such additional
impairment charges, or if financial analysts or investors believe we may need to take such action in the future, our
stock price and operating results could be materially adversely affected.

We review for impairment annually, or sooner if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
could exceed fair value. Due to uncertain market conditions and potential changes in our strategy and product
portfolio, it is possible that the forecasts we use to support our goodwill and other intangible assets could change in
the future. Significant judgments are required to estimate the fair value of goodwill and intangible assets, including
estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates, estimating the applicable tax rates, foreign
exchange rates and interest rates, projecting the future industry trends and market conditions, and making other
assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions, including changes in our reporting structure, could
materially affect our determinations of fair value.

REGULATORY RISKS
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We cannot provide any assurance that current laws, or any laws enacted in the future, will not have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Our operations are subject to laws, rules, regulations, including environmental regulations, government policies and
other requirements in each of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Changes in and compliance with such
laws, rules, regulations, policies or requirements could result in increased costs, the need to modify our products and
could affect the demand for our products, which may have an adverse impact on our future operating results. If we
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do not comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations, we could be subject to costs and liabilities and our business
may be adversely impacted.

Our operating results could be adversely affected as a result of changes in our effective tax rates.

As a U.S. based multinational company, we are subject to taxation in the United States and various other countries.
Significant judgment is required to determine and estimate worldwide tax liabilities. Our future tax rates could be
affected by changes in the following:

•  Earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we are taxed at lower rates as compared to the United
States statutory tax rate;

•  An increase in expenses not deductible for tax purposes, including certain stock compensation, write-offs of
acquired in-process research and development and impairment of goodwill;

•  Changes in the valuation and/or assessment of the realization of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
•  Changes in tax laws or the interpretation of such tax laws; or
•  New accounting standards or interpretations of such standards.

Any significant change in our future effective tax rates could adversely impact our results of operations for future
periods. Accordingly, forecasting our estimated annual effective tax rate is complex and subject to uncertainty, and
material differences between forecasted and actual tax rates could have a material impact on our results of operations.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and appropriate valuation allowances
for our deferred tax assets. The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application
of complex tax regulations. In determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes, we regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from tax examinations. We provide for tax liabilities on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets unless we consider it probable that additional taxes will not be due. However, the ultimate outcome of
tax examinations cannot be predicted with certainty, including the total amount payable or the timing of any such
payments upon resolution of such issues. In addition, we cannot assure you that such amounts will not be materially
different than that which is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals. Should the IRS or other tax
authorities assess additional taxes as a result of a current or a future examination, we may be required to record
charges to operations in future periods that could have a material impact on the results of operations, financial position
or cash flows in the applicable period or periods recorded.

Given the complexity of our international operations, in relation to the size of our company, changes in accounting
regulations and related interpretations and policies, pose a greater risk that we could recognize lower revenue and
profits, adversely impact our ability to provide financial guidance, and negatively affect our results of operations,
stock price and our stock price volatility.

Policies, guidelines and interpretations related to revenue recognition, accounting for acquisitions, income taxes,
facilities consolidation charges, allowances for doubtful accounts, stock-based compensation and other financial
reporting matters require difficult judgments on complex matters that are often subject to multiple sources of
authoritative guidance and the factors associated with estimates related to these matters may be subject to a great
degree of variability. To the extent that management’s judgment is incorrect, it could result in an adverse impact on our
financial statements. Some of these matters are also among topics currently under re-examination by accounting
standard setters and regulators. These standard setters and regulators could promulgate interpretations and guidance
that could result in material and potentially adverse changes to our accounting policies.

If we are required to remit significant payroll taxes resulting from employee stock option exercises, it could have an
adverse impact on our future financial results.
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When our employees exercise certain stock options, we are subject to employer payroll taxes on the difference
between the price of our common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price. These payroll taxes are
determined by the tax rates in effect in the employee’s taxing jurisdiction and are treated as an expense in the period in
which the exercise occurs. During a particular period, these payroll taxes could be material, in particular if an increase
in our stock price causes a significant number of employees to exercise their options. However, because we
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are unable to predict our stock price, the number of exercises, or the country of exercise during any particular period,
we cannot predict the amount, if any, of employer payroll tax expense that will be recorded in a future period or the
impact on our future financial results. Stock price increases make it more likely that option holders will exercise their
options and, accordingly, that we would incur higher payroll taxes.

Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting may materially adversely impact our business.

If we fail to maintain an effective internal control over financial reporting, if our management does not timely assess
the adequacy of such internal controls, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions and the public’s perception of our
company may decline and the trading price of our stock could drop significantly. Ongoing compliance with these
requirements is complex, costly and time-consuming. Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to
furnish a report by management on internal control over financial reporting, including management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of such control. Internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements
because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or overriding of
controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can provide only limited assurance with respect to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the control may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, including any failure to implement required
new or improved controls, or if we experience difficulties in their implementation, our business and operating results
could be harmed, we could fail to meet our reporting obligations, and there could be a material adverse effect on our
stock price.

RISKS OF OWNING OUR COMMON STOCK

Our stock price has been volatile, and you could lose the value of your investment.

Our stock price has been volatile and has fluctuated significantly in the past and your investment in our stock could
lose some or all of its value. For example, during the past twelve months ended June 30, 2010, the sales price of our
common stock has fluctuated from a high of $0.83 per share to a low of $0.25 per share. The trading price of our stock
is likely to continue to be volatile and subject to fluctuations in the future in response to various factors, some of
which are beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to the following:

•  quarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;
•  announcements by us or our competitors of new products, product improvements, significant contracts,

•  commercial relationships or capital commitments;
•  the emergence of new sales or distribution channels in which we are unable to compete effectively;

•  our ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;
•  commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

•  recommendations by securities analysts or changes in earnings estimates;
•  announcements about our earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations; and

•  general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of related markets.

The stock market in general and the market for small market capitalization technology companies in particular have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These broad market and industry factors could materially and
adversely affect the market price of our stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Our fluctuating stock
price also carries other risks, including the increased risk of shareholder litigation.
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We have authorized a class of preferred stock which may alter the rights of common stock holders by giving preferred
stock holders greater dividend rights, liquidation rights and voting rights than our common stockholders have.

Our board is empowered to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock with dividend, liquidation,
conversion, voting or other rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of
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common stock. While we do not currently have any shares of preferred stock outstanding, our Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended, authorizes a class of 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such designation, rights and
preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors, of which 1,000,000 shares were
previously designated as Series A Preferred Stock. In the event of issuance, the preferred stock could be utilized,
under certain circumstances, as a method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of the company.

Anti-takeover defenses in our governing documents and certain provisions under Delaware law could be dilutive and
prevent an acquisition of our company or limit the price that investors might be willing to pay for our common stock.

Our governing documents and certain provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law could make it difficult for
another company to acquire control of our company. Our certificate of incorporation allows our board to issue, at any
time and without stockholder approval, preferred stock with voting rights or such other rights, preferences and terms
as it may determine. Also, Delaware law generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business
combination with a person owning 15% or more of its voting stock, or who is affiliated with the corporation and
owned 15% or more of its voting stock at any time within three years prior to the proposed business combination, for
a period of three years from the date the person became a 15% owner, unless specified conditions are met. All or any
one of these factors could limit the price that certain investors would be willing to pay for shares of our common stock
and could delay, prevent or allow our Board of Directors to resist an acquisition of our company, even if the proposed
transaction were favored by independent stockholders.

Our common stock is quoted on the Pink Sheets, which may limit the ability of our stockholders to resell their
common stock in the secondary market.

Since July 22, 2010, our common stock has been quoted on an electronic quotation system operated by Pink OTC
Markets, and is subject to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s ‘‘penny stock rules,’’ which impose sales practice
requirements on broker-dealers that sell that common stock to persons other than established customers and ‘‘accredited
investors.’’ Application of this rule could make broker-dealers unable or unwilling to sell our common stock and limit
the ability of stockholders to sell their common stock in the secondary market.  Securities quoted on the Pink Sheets
generally have significantly less liquidity than securities traded on a national securities exchange, including lower
trading volumes, delays in the timing of transactions, reduced securities analyst and news coverage, and lower market
prices than might otherwise be obtained. Stockholders may find it difficult to resell their shares at prices quoted on the
Pink Sheets or at all. Additionally, our common stock may be more adversely affected by changes in general market
conditions, fluctuations in our operating results, changes in the market’s perception of our business, and
announcements made by us, our competitors or parties with whom we have business relationships. Further, we cannot
ensure that market makers will make a market in our common stock or that trading of its common stock will continue
on the Pink Sheets.

Our common stock not being traded on a national securities exchange could have other adverse effects, including
limitations on our ability to issue additional securities for financing or other purposes, or to otherwise arrange for any
financing it needs in the future, and the loss of confidence in our company by current or prospective employees,
customers, suppliers and others with whom we have or may seek to initiate business relationships. 

ITEM 1B.       UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2.          PROPERTIES

We maintain our executive offices in Oakland, New Jersey, pursuant to a lease expiring on January 31, 2015.   We
occupy approximately 41,800 square feet, including warehousing and manufacturing.

We maintain two sales offices in the United Kingdom.  We are also subject to a lease expiring on May 31, 2011 for
our former facility in Allendale, New Jersey.  We have entered into a sublease expiring on May 31, 2011, the
expiration date of our lease.  The sublease provides for annual rent payments to us of $180,000.

We believe our properties are adequately maintained and suitable for their intended use and that our production
facilities have capacity adequate for our current needs.  Our offices are adequately covered by insurance for claims
arising out of such occupancies.

The table below sets forth the location, approximate square footage, approximate annual rent, use of each location and
expiration date of each lease.  The leases summarized in the table provide for moderate annual rental increases.

Location
Approximate
Square Feet

Approximate
Annual Rent Use

Lease
Expiration Date

8 Allerman Road
Oakland, NJ  07436

41,800 $250,000 Executive
Offices,
Warehouse, and
Manufacturing
Facility

January 31,
2015

40 Boroline Road
Allendale, NJ 07401

15,400 $209,000 Former offices,
now being sublet.

May 31, 2011

Suite 10
East Devon Business
Centre
Heathpark Way
Honiton, Devon, EX14
1SF
United Kingdom

216 $    9,000 Office Month-to-month

Room F7 Worth Corner
Pound Hill
Crawley, West Sussex
RH10 7SL
United Kingdom

195 $    5,000 Office Month-to-month

ITEM 3.          LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of its business. Based on information
currently available to management,  other than the action described below the Company does not believe that the
outcome of any legal proceedings in which the Company is involved will have a material adverse impact on the
Company.
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On June 23, 2006, Xerox Corporation filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the United States District Court, for the
Southern District of New York, Case No. 06CV4872, against Media Sciences International, Inc. and Media Sciences,
Inc., alleging that the Company’s solid inks designed for use in the Xerox Phaser 8500 and 8550 printers infringe four
Xerox-held patents related to the shape of the ink sticks in combination with the Xerox ink stick feed assembly.  The
suit seeks unspecified damages and fees.  In the Company’s answer and counterclaims in this action, it denied
infringement and it seeks a finding of invalidity of the Xerox patents in question.  The Company also submitted
counterclaims against Xerox for breach of contract and violation of U.S. antitrust laws, seeking treble damages and
recovery of legal fees.  On September 14, 2007, the court denied Xerox’s motion to dismiss the antitrust counterclaims
brought by the Company.  Pre-trial discovery on the infringement action was completed in September 2007.  Pre-trial
discovery on the Company’s antitrust action was completed in July 2008.  In March 2009 the court dismissed, without
prejudice, the Company’s antitrust claims relating to Xerox’s loyalty rebate programs.  In the ruling, the court relied on
a 2001 Settlement Agreement between the parties resulting from a different matter, and found that before such claims
are pursued, the Company must submit to arbitration.  In September 2009, the court dismissed the Company’s
remaining antitrust claims not relating to Xerox’s loyalty
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rebate programs.  In March 2010 the court issued a ruling on a Markman hearing held in November 2008.   The
Company believes the ruling to be highly favorable.  In July 2010 the Company filed a motion for summary judgment
in its favor based on the grounds that the ink sticks sold by the Company do not infringe the claims asserted by Xerox,
as they were construed by the Court.  Should these matters not be decided on summary judgment, the patent
infringement claims remaining before the court are not likely to be heard at trial before mid 2011.  The loss of all or a
part of the patent infringement claims could have a material adverse affect on our results of operations and financial
position.  The Company believes that its inks do not infringe any valid U.S. patents and that it therefore has
meritorious grounds for success in this case.  The Company intends to vigorously defend these allegations of
infringement.  There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in its defense of this action
and in its counterclaims.  Proceeds of this suit, if any, will be recorded in the period when received.

ITEM 4.          (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART II

ITEM
5.    

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is currently quoted on the Pink OTC Markets Inc. under the symbol “MSII”.  During our past two
fiscal years and through July 21, 2010, our common stock was listed on the NASDAQ stock exchange under the
symbol “MSII”.  On July 20, 2010, we received notification from the Nasdaq Hearings Panel that the panel has
determined to delist our shares from The Nasdaq Stock Market and to suspend trading of our common stock effective
at the open of market on July22, 2010.  The panel’s determination was made in connection with a bid price
deficiency.  We are informed that the Nasdaq Stock Market will complete the delisting by filing a Form 25-NSE
Notification of Delisting with the Securities Exchange Commission after all applicable appeal periods have lapsed.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sale prices for a share of our
common stock, as reported by NASDAQ.

Fiscal Year Quarter Ended High Low
2009 September 30, 2008 $2.29 $1.46

December 31, 2008 $1.65 $0.31
March 31, 2009 $0.50 $0.15
June 30, 2009 $0.58 $0.29

2010 September 30, 2009 $0.65 $0.33
December 31, 2009 $0.60 $0.35
March 31, 2010 $0.55 $0.34
June 30, 2010 $0.70 $0.29

Holders

On September 15, 2010, there were 290 stockholders of record of shares of our common stock.  We estimate that
approximately 926 persons held shares in “street name” as of such date.

Dividends

We have never declared any cash dividends on our common stock.  Future cash dividends on the common stock, if
any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, debt restrictions, and other factors that the Board of Directors
may consider important.

No shares of preferred stock are presently outstanding.

Transfer Agent

The transfer agent for our common stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, New York, New York.

ITEM 6.          SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
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ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which involve risk
and uncertainties.  Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward looking statements
as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Fiscal 2010 was a very transformative year.  Although we continued to report a net operating loss it was less than the
previous year and sales remained relatively flat.  We continued the right-sizing initiatives we started during fiscal
2009.  As a result and along with the modest increase in our sales, we were able to remove the 10% wage concessions
we had previously asked of our employees by the end of the fiscal year.  Our inventory management initiative
continued to realize inventory reductions as we further reduced our inventory in excess of $900,000.  Although our
product warranty costs continued to increase; we were pleased that the rate of warranty expense continued to decline
at the end of the fiscal year as a result of the efforts of our research and development group.  Our net results however
were adversely impacted when we concluded that there was a need to establish a valuation allowance on Federal
deferred tax assets in excess of $1.9 million.

The most important event during fiscal 2010 was the signing of our asset purchase agreement with Master Ink Co.
Ltd. (“Master Ink”) in April 2010, which we expect to close in the second quarter of fiscal 2011.  Although we ceased
developing our own facility in China in fiscal 2009 we maintained a strategic goal of establishing a presence there as
soon as possible.  This acquisition will allow us to reduce costs associated with our products as well as reduce
transportation and provide better inventory management.  We have already begun working with Master Ink to make
sure that when this transaction closes we will be able to transition our supply channel to them without interruption.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Revenues

In fiscal 2010, consolidated net revenues increased by $224,000, or 1%, to $21,942,000.  Fiscal 2010 sales of color
toner cartridges increased by about 6.6% over fiscal 2009 while sales of solid inks contracted by about
5.9%.   Overall, our net revenue growth in fiscal 2010 was driven primarily by sales from new products introduced
over the year, and to a lesser extent, an increase in market share for some of our existing products, and continued
growth of the installed base of color business printers for which we manufacture products.   The currency impact on
net sales was de minimis for fiscal 2010.  We ended the 2010 fiscal year with an order backlog of $516,000 versus
$241,000 at June 30, 2009.

In fiscal 2009, consolidated net revenues decreased by $2,520,000 or 10%, to $21,718,000 from $24,238,000 in fiscal
2008.  Sales of color toner cartridges increased by approximately 2% over fiscal 2008 while sales of solid inks
contracted by approximately 11%.  Revenues associated with initial placements of printers under our discontinued
INKlusive program decreased by approximately 71% year-over-year, as we focused on our core consumable
business.  The most significant drivers of the 10% decrease in net revenues were an increase in the year-over-year
level of customer rebates and the effect of European currency devaluation against the US dollar.
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Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation and amortization, product warranty, and shipping and freight –

In fiscal 2010, our cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation and amortization, product warranty, and shipping and
freight costs, increased by $323,000, or 3%, to $10,486,000 (48% of net revenues) from $10,163,000 (47% of
revenues) in the prior fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.  This change was attributable to continued shifts in our product
sales mix from solid ink products to a greater proportion of toner-based products, which typically carry lower gross
margins and an increase in cost of inbound freight.

In fiscal 2009, our cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation and amortization, product warranty, and shipping and
freight costs, decreased by $996,000, or 9%, to $10,163,000 (47% of net revenues) from $11,159,000 (46% of net
revenues) in the prior fiscal year ended June 30 2008.  Aside from the year-over-year effects of rebates and currency
devaluation on the percentage of net revenues, we realized about $650,000 or 280 basis points of margin improvement
driven by our cost reduction efforts through the year.  These cost reduction efforts were particularly noticeable in our:
(1) direct labor costs; (2) plant expenses; and (3) realized reductions in our inbound freight costs.  Despite the
continued trend toward a sales mix more weighted toward toner-based products, which typically carry lower margins
than solid ink products, sales mix only had a nominal effect on costs of goods margins due to a substantially lower
volume of INKlusive printer placements in 2008.

Depreciation and amortization – Depreciation and amortization associated with our manufacturing decreased by
$153,000, or 28%, in fiscal 2010 over fiscal 2009.  These same costs decreased by $31,000, or 6%, in fiscal 2009 over
fiscal 2008.  These year-over-year changes are primarily driven by retirements or additions to our installed base of
tool and die assets.  These tool and die assets, which are used to manufacture toner cartridges, are amortized over an
average estimated useful life of three years.  During the year ended June 30, 2010, we invested $443,000 in various
property and equipment that will be depreciated and amortized over useful lives of three to seven years.  During the
preceding year ended June 30, 2009, we invested $948,000 in similar assets having comparable useful lives.  Most of
these capital expenditures were associated with our manufacturing operations.  The depreciation and amortization
generated by these manufacturing assets is classified as a component of cost of goods sold.  Depreciation and
amortization related to assets employed in our research and development activities is classified as a component of
research and development expense.  All other depreciation and amortization is classified as a component of selling,
general and administrative expense.

Product warranty – In fiscal 2010, product warranty costs increased by $331,000, or 21%, to $1,893,000 (9% of net
revenues) from $1,562,000 (7% of net revenues) in fiscal 2009.  The year-over-year increase in our warranty expense
is related to one of our products where a latent issue was determined to have been caused by a change in
manufacturing processes by one of our vendors.  We believe the issue is now resolved and have experienced a
decrease in monthly warranty costs as a result of the investments we made in production processes and testing during
the preceding year.

Shipping and freight – Outbound shipping and freight remained relatively constant at $570,000 (3% of sales) in fiscal
2010 over fiscal 2009.

Gross Profit. Fiscal 2010 consolidated gross profit decreased by $287,000, or 3%, to $8,608,000 from $8,895,000 in
fiscal 2009.  In fiscal 2010, our gross margin was 39% of net revenues as compared with 41% of net revenues in fiscal
2009.     Our gross margins were also affected by year-over-year increases in our warranty costs, and production
product mix offset by a decrease in depreciation as more fully discussed above.
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compared to $1,359,000 in fiscal 2009, a decline of $34,000.
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Selling, General and Administrative.  In fiscal 2010, selling, general and administrative expense, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization, decreased by $711,000, or 8%, over fiscal 2009.  This decrease was primarily driven by
our cessation of our start up activities in China and a reduction in compensation as a result of reductions imposed in
the 2009 fiscal year.  These were offset by small increases in travel and acquisition costs associated with our purchase
of the Master Ink business as previously described.  Realized foreign exchange losses increased by $42,000 to
$252,000 during the fiscal year ended June 2010.

In fiscal 2009, selling, general and administrative expense, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, decreased by
$2,752,000, or 23%, over fiscal 2008.  This decrease was driven by broad based efforts to reduce our operating costs
in particular lower compensation and benefits, legal and professional, advertising and travel and entertainment
costs.  In addition 2009 selling, general and administrative expenses exclusive of depreciation and amortization
included several significant expenses there were unusual or of non-recurring nature.  These included: $891,000 of
costs associated with the start-up activities for our operations in China which have been ceased and $436,000 of
litigation costs.

Depreciation and Amortization.  In fiscal 2010, non-manufacturing and non-research and development depreciation
and amortization expense decreased by $131,000, or 37%, over fiscal 2009.  This decrease is attributed to efforts by
the Company to reduce its capital expenditures.  In fiscal 2009, non-manufacturing and non-research and development
depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $15,000, or 4%, over fiscal 2008.

Interest Expense, net.  In fiscal 2010, we had net interest expense of $498,000, inclusive of $146,000 of non-cash debt
discount amortization, versus net interest expense of $355,000 in fiscal 2009.  The year-over-year increase in net
interest expense is due to increases in our level of borrowing and a higher interest rate on our revolver as well as a full
year of debt amortization associated with $1,250,000 convertible debt issuance completed in our fiscal 2009 year.

Income Taxes.  For the year ended June 30, 2010, we recorded a provision for income taxes of $1,936,000 associated
with the establishment of a valuation allowance for our previously recorded deferred tax assets as it was deemed more
likely than not that our Federal net operating loss carry forwards and other future deductible temporary differences
will not be realized.  This resulted in deferred tax liabilities which had previously been offset against the deferred tax
assets to be recorded as a long term liability on our balance sheet.  For the year ended June 30, 2009, we recorded an
income tax benefit of $176,000 as compared with an income tax benefit of $1,312,000 for the year ended June 30,
2008. This reflects the establishment of a valuation allowance in the amount of $532,000 for deferred tax assets
previously recorded as it was deemed more likely than not that certain State net operating loss carry forwards and
other future deductible temporary differences included in our deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Our effective
blended state and federal tax rate varies due to the magnitude of various permanent differences between reported
pretax income and what is recognized as taxable income by various taxing authorities.

Net Loss.  For the year ended June 30, 2010, we lost $3,619,000 from operations or $0.30 per share basic and fully
diluted, as compared to the year ended June 30, 2009, where we lost $1,675,000 from operations or $0.14 per share
basic and fully diluted.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During the year ended June 30, 2010, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $233,000 to $318,000.

We generated $671,000 of cash from operating activities for the year ended June 30, 2010 as compared to $401,000 in
the year ended June 30, 2009.  The $671,000 of cash generated by operating activities for the year ended June 30,
2010 resulted from a $3,619,000 loss from operations, which included non-cash charges totaling $3,415,000, and
$875,000 of cash provided primarily to increase our non-cash working capital (current assets less cash and cash
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equivalents net of current liabilities).  The most significant drivers behind the $875,000 increase in our non-cash
working capital include:  inventory reductions, net of reserve changes in the amount of $973,000 and a decrease in
accounts receivable of $664,000, achieved during fiscal 2010 offset by a $751,000 reduction in our trade obligations
and other accrued expenses; and a $228,000 reduction in our deferred revenues, associated with our INKlusive
program.  During the year ended June 30, 2010, our inventory levels decreased by $973,000.
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We decreased our cash used in investing activities to $442,700 in the year ended June 30, 2010 compared to utilizing
$855,000 of cash in the year ended June 30, 2009.  This cash was used primarily for the purchase of equipment,
tooling and leasehold improvements.

During the year ended June 30, 2010, we utilized cash for financing activities of $425,000.  We repaid our bank line
and capital lease obligations by $478,000 net during this period and saw our restricted cash decrease by
$53,000.  During the year ended June 30, 2009 there was an increase in cash of $805,000 predominantly as a result of
the issuance of subordinated convertible debt as described below and in increase in our bank line of net
$155,000.  This was offset by payments on our capital lease obligation of $459,000 and an increase in our restricted
cash of $140,901.  On September 24, 2008, we completed a $1,250,000 convertible debt financing with MicroCapital
Fund, LP and MicroCapital Fund, Ltd. (collectively, “MicroCapital”).  We issued three year notes, bearing interest at
10% payable quarterly and convertible into shares of our common stock at $1.65 per share. We also issued to
MicroCapital (a) five year warrants to purchase 387,787 shares of our common stock at $1.65 per share, and (b) three
year warrants allowing MicroCapital to repeat its investment up to $1,250,000 on substantially the same terms and
conditions.  The three year warrants were callable under certain criteria.  During March 2010, the terms of our
financing with MicroCapital were modified by eliminating the convertibility of the notes, by cancelling the warrants,
and issuing them 400,000 shares of common stock.

Our INKlusive program generated operating cash flow in advance of the income statement recognition associated with
printer consumables being shipped and revenues being recognized over the two year term of our typical INKlusive
supply agreement.  This advanced funding of the INKlusive contract consideration by a third-party leasing company
resulted in up-front cash receipts and corresponding deferred revenue obligations.  As of June 30, 2010, deferred
revenue associated with the program totaled $20,000.  As previously reported we made a decision to cancel this
program effective April 1, 2009 and no new contracts were originated after that date.

In fiscal 2009, our cash and cash equivalents increased by $314,000 to $551,000.  $401,000 of this increase resulted
from operating activities and $805,000 occurred as a result of financing activities.  These increases were partially
offset by $855,000 of cash provided from investing activities, mostly from the purchase of equipment, tooling and
leasehold improvements.

We have a revolving credit facility with Sovereign Bank.  As amended through September 27, 2010, the advance limit
under the line of credit is the lesser of: (a) $4,000,000; or (b) up to 80% of eligible domestic accounts receivable and
up to the lesser of $1, 000,000 or 75% of eligible foreign receivables plus up to the lesser of: (i) $2,500,000; or (ii)
50% of eligible inventory; or (iii) 60% of the maximum amount available to be advanced under the line.  The line of
credit is collateralized by a first priority security interest in substantially all of our U.S. based assets and our foreign
receivables and requires payments of interest only through the facilities three year term.  As amended, the interest rate
on the term note and the one of credit varies based on the bank’s prime rate and is equal to the greater of the bank’s
prime rate plus 4% or 8%. At June 30, 2010 the applicable interest rate, prior to amendment, on amounts drawn under
the term note and the line of credit was 7.25%.  The credit facility expires on October 1, 2011.

The revolving loan may be converted into one or more term notes upon mutual agreement of the parties. On February
12, 2008, we entered into a non-amortizing term note with the bank in the amount of $1,500,000, due October 1, 2011,
as amended.  At June 30, 2010, this note had a principal balance of $1,500,000.  As of June 30, 2010, we had an
outstanding balance of $840,863 under the revolving line and approximately $999,000 of undrawn availability under
the credit line.  At June 30, 2009, we had outstanding with the bank the $1,500,000 term note and had an outstanding
balance of $1,249,132 drawn under our revolving credit line, with about $1,005,000 of undrawn availability.

Our current and former credit facilities are and have been subject to financial covenants.  Current financial covenants
include monitoring a ratio of debt to tangible net worth, an ebitda, as defined, covenant for the three months ended
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September 30, 2010 and a fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the loan agreements.  As of June 30, 2010, the
bank waived the non-compliance of our ebitda covenant by a recent amendment and amended the specific terms of
certain covenants going forward such that based on our current projections we expect to be in compliance through
October 1, 2011.  We were in compliance with all of our financial covenants at June 30, 2009.  As a result of a cross
default and collateralization provision associated with our former debt facility, the Company
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agreed to refinance certain operating leases held by an affiliate of the former bank.  Under terms of a separate waiver
and amendment with this leasing affiliate, we received an extension of time to refinance or payoff the lease obligation
until September 30, 2009.  Under the terms of this amendment, we agreed to make six lease payments of $39,668 per
month, plus accrued interest at prime plus 2.5% per annum, between March 2009 and September 2009.   At June 30,
2009, the remaining obligation under the agreement was $69,815.  This obligation was fully satisfied in August 2009,
when we obtained title to the leased equipment.

SOME SIGNIFICANT FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE LIQUIDITY

Litigation costs.  Our liquidity could be significantly affected by future legal fees and other costs associated with our
continuing litigation with Xerox.  Although the litigation with Xerox is not expected to be tried until the middle of
2011, the actual timing and magnitude of costs associated with this litigation are uncertain.  For more information
regarding our litigation see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FUTURE FINANCING REQUIREMENTS

Management believes that cash on hand, cash available under its borrowing commitments and expected cash
generated from operating activities will be sufficient to meet the Company’s obligations and fund its day-to-day
operations for the next 12 months.  In the future, our operations may require additional funds and we may seek to raise
such additional funds through public or private sales of debt or equity securities, or securities convertible or
exchangeable into such securities, strategic relationships, bank debt, lease financing arrangements, or other available
means.  We cannot provide assurance that additional funding, if sought, will be available or, if available, will be on
acceptable terms to meet our business needs.  If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities,
stockholders may experience dilution, or such equity securities may have rights, preferences, or privileges senior to
those of the holders of our common stock.  If additional funds are raised through debt financing, the debt financing
may involve significant cash payment obligations and financial or operational covenants that may restrict our ability
to operate our business.  An inability to fund our operations or fulfill outstanding obligations could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

We plan on various capital expenditures over the next twelve months of approximately $450,000.  These capital
expenditures include toner cartridge tool and die development, evaluation printers, various quality assurance and
development instruments, various leasehold improvements, equipment, and upgrades to our information technology
systems.  In addition, we plan to acquire certain manufacturing equipment to scale our manufacturing capability
and/or increase productivity.  We plan to finance these expenditures from one or more of the following: existing cash,
cash generated by operations, use of operating leases, debt financing.

SEASONALITY

Historically, we have not experienced significant seasonality in our business.  As we continue to grow our
international business relative to our North American business, we may experience a more notable level of
seasonality, especially during the summer months.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Use of Estimates
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.  When more than one accounting principle, or method of its application, is
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generally accepted, management selects the principle or method that is appropriate in our specific
circumstances.  Application of the accounting principles requires our management to make estimates about the future
resolution of existing uncertainties that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, which
in the normal course of business are subsequently adjusted to actual results.  Actual results could differ from such
estimates.  In preparing these financial statements, management has made its best estimates and judgments of the
amounts and disclosures included in the consolidated financial statements giving due regard to materiality.
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Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized at the point of shipment and transfer of title for goods sold, provided collection is reasonably
assured.  Net revenues include reimbursed shipping and freight expense.  Provisions for rebates, product returns and
discounts to customers are recognized as reductions in determining net revenues in the same period as the related
revenues are recorded.  Any sales or other taxes collected from customers are not reflected in the consolidated
statements of operations but instead reflected as current obligations in the consolidated balance sheets until disbursed
to the respective taxing authority.

Under our INKlusive program, we provided a customer with a business color printer or multifunction device, on-site
service, and a defined, regular shipment of supplies (ink or toner), all for the cost of just the supplies.  We offered this
program in conjunction with a financing company.  We are not exposed to the credit risk of any individual customer in
the INKlusive program.  Media Sciences does not own or otherwise finance the cost of the printer, nor does Media
Sciences guarantee the credit worthiness of the customer.  Under our agreement with the financing company, at the
time of placement of the INKlusive printer, we were paid in full for the printer and the two years of
supplies.  Consequently, the difference in timing between receipt of contract payment from the finance company and
when the supplies are shipped gives rise to deferred revenue on our balance sheet.  We amortize this deferred revenue
liability and recognize revenue ratably over the contract term as we ship supplies to the customer.  The current and
non-current components of the deferred revenue obligation are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets.

Based on declining INKlusive sales volume, we made the decision to discontinue the program effective April 1,
2009.  Although no new INKlusive contracts were originated after April 1, 2009, remaining commitments under
existing INKlusive supply obligations continue to be honored.  The INKlusive program was a multi-element
program.  We recognize revenue under this program in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 605.  Under
those provisions, revenue is recognized for the printer upon shipment to the customers, while revenue for the supplies
and services associated with the program are recognized equally over the contract term in proportion to product
shipments.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We market our products to an international network of dealers and distributors.  Credit is extended after a credit
review by management, which is based on a customer’s ability to perform its obligations.  Such reviews are regularly
updated.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon aging of customer balances and specific account reviews
by management.  For non-U.S. trade receivables and certain U.S. trade receivables, we maintain credit
insurance.  Most U.S. trade receivables are not covered under this credit insurance.  We maintain an allowance for
potential credit losses based upon expected collectability of its uninsured accounts receivable.  We have no significant
concentrations of credit risks and generally do not require collateral or other security from our customers.

Inventories and Inventory Reserves
Inventories, consisting of materials, labor, manufacturing overhead, and associated in-bound shipping and freight are
stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.  We review the
adequacy of our inventory reserves on a quarterly basis.  Abnormal inventory costs such as costs of idle facilities,
excess freight and handling costs, and wasted materials are recognized as current period charges.  We write down
inventory based on forecasted demand and technological obsolescence.  These factors are impacted by market and
economic conditions, technology changes, new product introductions and changes in strategic direction and require
estimates that may include uncertain elements.  Actual demand may differ from forecasted demand and such
differences may have a material effect on recorded inventory values.

Warranty
We provide a warranty for all of our consumable supply products.  We warrant our products’ suitability for use in the
intended printer models and that our products are free of defects that could cause damage to these printers.  Costs
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covered under the product warranty include customary charges for the repair or replacement of the printer with an
equivalent new or refurbished printer, at our sole discretion.  The warranty does not cover damage to the product or a
printer caused by accident, abuse, misuse, natural disaster, human error, unauthorized disassembly, repair, or
modification.  We believe that our product warranty is relatively liberal, providing in most cases, broader and more
complete coverage than that provided by the original equipment printer manufacturer.  Service costs associated with
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our INKlusive program are also included in this expense caption.  We account for the estimated warranty cost as a
charge to product warranty, a captioned component of cost of goods sold, when revenue is recognized.  The estimated
warranty cost is based on historical product performance and field expenses.  We update these estimated charges every
quarter.  The actual product performance and/or field expense profiles may differ, and in those cases we adjust
warranty accruals accordingly.

Contingencies and Litigation
We are named from time to time as a party to various legal proceedings (See Item 3 Legal Proceedings).  While we
currently believe the ultimate outcome of these proceedings, based on their merit, will not have a material adverse
effect on our financial position, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. 

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification No.740, “Income Taxes” which
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities.  ASC 740 also requires that deferred tax
assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not
be realized.  In projecting future taxable income, for the purpose of evaluating the need for a valuation allowance
associated with its deferred tax assets, we consider all evidence, both positive and negative; whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  As a result, a valuation allowance has
been recorded against all of the deferred tax assets.

On a quarterly basis, we provide for income taxes based upon an annual effective income tax rate.  The effective tax
rate is highly dependent upon the geographic composition of forecasted worldwide earnings, tax regulations governing
each region, availability of tax credits and the effectiveness of our tax planning strategies.  We carefully monitor the
changes in many factors and adjust our effective income tax rate on a quarterly basis.  If actual results differ from
these estimates, this could have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax
regulations.  As a result of the implementation of ASC 740, we recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based
on the two-step process prescribed within the interpretation.  The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position
will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any.  The second step is to
measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement.  We reevaluate these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis.  This evaluation is based on factors
including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under
audit, and new audit activity.  Any change in these factors could result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an
additional charge to the tax provision. The Company has released its reserves for uncertain tax positions.  The reserves
are no longer required as the future tax benefits were effectively written-off with the recording of the valuation
allowance noted above.

See Note 7, “Income Taxes” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed description.

Goodwill and Impairment
The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses is considered to be
goodwill.  Under authoritative guidance, purchased goodwill is not amortized, but rather, periodically reviewed for
impairment.  We have remaining net goodwill and net acquired intangible assets of approximately $3.58 million at
June 30, 2010 and 2009.  This goodwill resulted from the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of ultraHue, Inc.
in 1999.  We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level.  We have determined that we have only one
reporting unit.
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We review goodwill annually at our fiscal year-end and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable.  Under authoritative guidance we are required to follow the  two-step
impairment test of goodwill.  In the first step, we compare the fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying
value.  We determine the fair value of our reporting unit based on an income approach using a discounted cash flow
methodology.  This requires us to use significant judgment including estimation of future cash flows, which is
dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, determination of our
weighted average cost of capital for purposes of establishing a discount rate, and relevant market data.  If the fair

31

Edgar Filing: MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

59



To Index

value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit, goodwill is not
impaired and we are not required to perform further testing.  If the carrying value of the net assets of the reporting unit
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then we must perform the second step of impairment testing in order to
determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill.  If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill
exceeds it implied fair value then we record an impairment loss equal to the difference.  Based on our valuation
results, we determined that the fair value of our reporting unit ranged from 110% to 144% of its carrying value based
on a range of discounted cash flow assumptions, which are discussed in detail below.  Therefore, management
determined that no goodwill impairment charge was required as of June 30, 2010.

Market capitalization is a relevant and objective, but not conclusive, indicator of the Company’s fair value considered
in our evaluation of goodwill impairment.  During its fiscal 2010 year, the Company’s closing stock price fluctuated
from a low of $0.25 to a high of $0.83.  As directed by authoritative guidance, we evaluated the trading activity in the
Company’s common stock, including bid-ask spreads and the significant decline in trading volumes.  Based on this
evaluation, we concluded that it would not be appropriate to place reliance on the stock prices we observed as being
representative of the Company’s fair value.  In particular, we noted that the volume had significantly decreased to the
point where trading did not take place on a daily basis and transactions may not be orderly.  Accordingly, at this
measurement date we placed reliance on a projected discounted cash flow method.

Our discounted cash flow projections were based on a five-year financial forecast.  The five-year forecast was based
on annual financial forecasts developed internally by management for use in managing our business.  The significant
assumptions of these five-year forecasts which were used in determining fair value of our single reporting unit
included:

•  Forecasted fiscal 2011 revenue growth based on current operating conditions and assumptions and 5 percent
thereafter;
•  Gross margins of 41%, which reflects our current margin adjusted for a decrease in ongoing warranty costs;

•  Euro and British pound exchange rates to the US dollar remain materially similar to levels prevailing during the
period of testing;

•  Terminal value of 6-9 times cash flows, inclusive of an estimated control premium; and
•  Future cash flows were discounted to present value using an end-of-year convention and a discount rate of 14%,
based on the Company’s calculated weighted-average cost of capital.

We believe these estimated assumptions are appropriate for our circumstances, in-line with or below our historical
results and consistent with our forecasted long-term business model.  These assumptions also have considered the
current economic environment.  However, due to uncertain market conditions and potential changes in our strategy
and product portfolio, it is possible that the forecasts we use to support our goodwill and other intangible assets could
change in the future.  Changes in these estimates and assumptions, including changes in our reporting structure, could
materially affect our determinations of fair value.  Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our estimates and
assumptions made for purposes of our goodwill impairment testing for the year ended June 30, 2010 will prove to be
accurate predictions of the future.

If our estimates and assumptions are not materially achieved, we may be required to record goodwill impairment
charges in future periods, whether in connection with the next annual impairment testing at the end of fiscal 2011 or
prior to that, if any such change constitutes a triggering event outside of the quarter from when the annual goodwill
impairment test is performed.  It is not possible at this time to determine if any such future impairment charge would
result or, if it does, whether such charge would be material.  If we determine that any of our goodwill or intangible
assets, including technology purchased in acquisitions, are impaired, we would be required to take a charge to
earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Fair Value Accounting

In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. This guidance now requires a
reporting entity to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and also to describe the reasons for these transfers. This authoritative guidance also requires enhanced
disclosure of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. The guidance for Level 3 fair value measurements
disclosures becomes effective for the Company’s interim reporting period ending September 30, 2011 and the
Company does not expect that this guidance will have an impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash
flows as it is disclosure-only in nature.

Other Accounting Changes

In October 2009, the FASB amended its EITF authoritative guidance addressing revenue arrangements with multiple
deliverables.  The guidance requires revenue to be allocated to multiple elements using relative fair value based on
vendor-specific-objective-evidence, third party evidence or estimated selling price. The residual method also becomes
obsolete under this guidance.  This guidance is effective for our interim reporting period ending on September 30,
2010.  We are currently evaluating the impact of the implementation of this guidance on our financial position, results
of operations and cash flows.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-17, Revenue Recognition – Milestone Method.  This ASU provides
guidance on the criteria that should be met for determining whether the milestone method of revenue recognition is
appropriate.  Under the milestone method of revenue recognition, consideration that is contingent upon achievement
of a milestone in its entirety can be recognized as revenue in the period in which the milestone is achieved only if the
milestone meets all criteria to be considered substantive.  This standard provides the criteria to be met for a milestone
to be considered substantive which includes that: a) performance consideration earned by achieving the milestone be
commensurate with either performance to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of the value of the item delivered
as a result of a specific outcome resulting from performance to achieve the milestone; and b) relate to past
performance and be reasonable relative to all deliverables and payment terms in the arrangement.  This standard is
effective on a prospective basis for milestones in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010.  We do not expect
adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our financial position or the results of our operations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-13, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718).  This ASU
provides amendments to Topic 718 to clarify that an employee share-based payment award with an exercise price
denominated in the currency of a market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity securities trades should
not be considered to contain a condition that is not a market, performance, or service condition.  Therefore, an entity
would not classify such an award as a liability if it otherwise qualifies as equity.  This standard is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2010.  We are currently
evaluating the impact of the implementation of this guidance on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

ITEM 7A.       QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in foreign currency exchange rates and commodity price
inflation.  Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as foreign
currency exchange, commodity price inflation and interest rates.  We do not hedge our foreign currency
exposures.  We had no forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding as of June 30, 2010.  In the future we may
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

A large portion of our business is conducted in countries other than the U.S. We are primarily exposed to changes in
exchange rates for the Euro, the British pound, the Japanese yen, and the Chinese yuan.  At June 30, 2010, about 38%
of our receivables were invoiced in foreign currencies.  We were exposed to currency exchange risk from euro and
British pound-denominated sales.  For these transactions we expect to be a net receiver of the foreign currency and
therefore benefit from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely affected by a stronger U.S. dollar.

Today, a significant portion of our toner-based products are purchased in U.S. dollars from Asian vendors and
contract manufacturers.  Although such transactions are denominated in U.S. dollars, over time, we are adversely
affected by a weaker U.S. dollar, in the form of price increases, and, conversely, benefit from a stronger U.S.
dollar.  Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a weakening of the U.S. dollar, may adversely affect
our consolidated operating expenses and operating margins which are expressed in U.S. dollars.

Commodity Price Inflation Risk

Over the last twelve months we have experienced increases in some raw material costs and the costs of shipping and
freight to deliver those materials and finished products to our facility and, where paid for by us, shipments to
customers.  While we have historically offset a significant portion of this inflation in operating costs through increased
productivity and improved yield, recent increases have impacted profit margins.  We are pursuing efforts to improve
our procurement of raw materials.  We can provide no assurance that our efforts to mitigate increases in raw materials
and shipping and freight costs will be successful.

Interest Rate Risk

At June 30, 2010, we had approximately $2,341,000 of debt outstanding under our line of credit.  Interest expense
under this line of credit is variable, based on its lender’s prime rate.  Accordingly, we are subject to interest rate risk in
the form of greater interest expense in the event of rising interest rates.  We estimate that a 10% increase in interest
rates, based on our present level of borrowings, would result in the incurring about $17,000 pretax (about $11,000
after tax) of greater interest expense.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Media Sciences International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Media Sciences International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
as of June 30, 2010, and the related consolidated statement of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive loss
and cash flows for the year then ended.  These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Media Sciences International, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2010, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

September 27, 2010
New York, New York
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Media Sciences International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Media Sciences International, Inc. and Subsidiaries
as of June 30, 2009, and the related consolidated statement of operations, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive loss
and cash flows for the year then ended.  These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Media Sciences International, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2009, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

/s/Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP

September 24, 2009
New York, New York
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MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of June 30,
ASSETS 2010 2009

CURRENT ASSETS:
    Cash and cash equivalents $317,611 $550,602
    Accounts receivable, net 2,674,918 3,427,550
    Inventories, net 5,476,041 6,392,441
    Taxes receivable 50,506 20,257
    Deferred tax assets – 830,447
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets 244,841 541,153
        Total Current Assets 8,763,917 11,762,450

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 1,852,131 2,096,986

OTHER ASSETS:
    Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 3,584,231 3,584,231
    Deferred tax assets – 279,486
    Other assets 85,984 75,159
        Total Other Assets 3,670,215 3,938,876

TOTAL ASSETS $14,286,263 $17,798,312

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
    Accounts payable 1,201,154 1,128,187
    Accrued compensation and benefits 555,136 690,948
    Other accrued expenses and current liabilities 443,641 1,151,325
    Short-term capital lease obligation – 69,815
    Accrued product warranty costs 432,548 436,578
    Deferred rent liability 28,493 63,863
    Deferred revenue 20,097 209,079
        Total Current Liabilities 2,681,069 3,749,795

OTHER LIABILITIES:
    Long-term debt, less current maturities 2,340,863 2,749,132
    Deferred rent liability 29,517 58,010
    10% subordinated debt, net of discount of $255,376 in 2010 and  $401,830 in 2009 994,624 848,170
    Deferred revenue, less current portion – 38,708
    Deferred tax liabilities 904,922 –
        Total Other Liabilities 4,269,926 3,694,020

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,950,995 7,443,815

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
    Preferred Stock, $.001 par value
       Authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued – –
    Common Stock, $.001 par value 25,000,000 shares authorized;
        issued and outstanding, respectively, 13,292,374 and 12,699,914
        shares in 2010 and 12,397,757 and 11,771,966 shares in 2009 12,700 11,772
    Additional paid-in capital 13,277,405 13,000,680
    Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,402 216
    Accumulated deficit (5,956,239 ) (2,658,171 )
        Total Shareholders' Equity 7,335,268 10,354,497

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $14,286,263 $17,798,312

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

37

Edgar Filing: MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

68



To Index

MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

NET REVENUES $21,941,931 $21,718,141

COST OF GOODS SOLD:
    Cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation and amortization,
        product warranty, and shipping and freight 10,485,797 10,162,977
    Depreciation and amortization 384,896 537,471
    Product warranty 1,893,161 1,561,785
    Shipping and freight 570,100 561,018
        Total cost of goods sold 13,333,954 12,823,251

GROSS PROFIT 8,607,977 8,894,890

OTHER COSTS AND EXPENSES:
    Research and development 1,324,616 1,359,270
    Selling, general and administrative, excluding depreciation
        and amortization 8,452,747 9,163,416
    Depreciation and amortization 227,642 359,040
    Impairment charge – 1,009,088
    Litigation settlement – (1,500,000 )
        Total other costs and expenses 10,005,005 10,390,814

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (1,397,028 ) (1,495,924 )

Other income 212,707 –
Interest expense (351,730 ) (273,169 )
Interest income 145 3,039
Loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities (38 ) –
Amortization of debt discount on convertible debt (146,453 ) (84,785 )

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (1,682,397 ) (1,850,839 )
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (1,936,415 ) 175,566

NET LOSS $(3,618,812 ) $(1,675,273 )

LOSS PER SHARE
    Basic $(0.30 ) $( 0.14 )
    Diluted $(0.30 ) $( 0.14 )

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES USED TO COMPUTE LOSS PER SHARE
    Basic and diluted 12,192,419 11,727,175
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholder’s
Shares Amount Capital Income (loss) Deficit Equity

BALANCES, JUNE 30,
2008 11,708,964 $11,709 $11,798,443 $ 29,167 (982,898 ) $10,856,421

Components of
comprehensive loss:
   Net loss – – – – (1,675,273 ) (1,675,273 )
   Cumulative translation
adjustment – – – (28,951 ) (28,951 )
      Total comprehensive
loss (1,704,224 )
   Fair value of warrants and
beneficial conversion
discount on convertible
note – – 422,660 – 422,660
   Vested restricted stock
units 63,002 63 (63 ) – –
   Stock-based
compensation – – 779,640 – 779,640

BALANCES, JUNE 30,
2009 11,771,966 $11,772 $13,000,680 $ 216 $ (2,658,171 ) $10,354,497

Cumulative effect of
change in accounting
principle – ASC Topic
815-10 adoption (327,524 ) 320,744 (6,780 )
Components of
comprehensive loss:
   Net loss – – – – (3,618,812 ) (3,618,812 )
   Cumulative translation
adjustment – – – 1,186 1,186
      Total comprehensive
loss (3,617,626 )
   Issuance of common
stock for warrant
repurchase and
modification of
subordinated debt terms 400,000 400 6,418 – 6,818
   Vested restricted stock
units 527,948 528 (528 ) – –
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   Stock-based
compensation – – 598,359 – 598,359

BALANCES, JUNE 30,
2010 12,699,914 $12,700 $13,277,405 $ 1,402 (5,956,239 ) $7,335,268

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
    Net loss $(3,618,812) $(1,675,273)
    Adjustments to reconcile net loss
      to net cash provided  by operating activities:
         Depreciation and amortization 687,544 955,410
         Stock-based compensation expense 587,665 777,014
         Deferred income taxes 1,936,415 (141,308 )
         Impairment charge – 1,009,088
         Provision for inventory obsolescence (45,475 ) 211,623
         Provision (recovery) of allowance for returns and doubtful accounts 102,474 (78,839 )
         Amortization of debt discount on convertible debt 146,453 84,785
         Loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities 38 –
         Changes in operating assets and liabilities :
             Accounts receivable 663,746 (256,139 )
             Inventories 972,569 2,615,001
             Current and long-term income taxes receivable/payable (30,249 ) 37,419
             Prepaid expenses and other assets 232,123 (65,811 )
             Accounts payable 72,298 (1,916,378)
             Accrued compensation and benefits (140,443 ) (39,149 )
             Other accrued expenses and current liabilities (682,434 ) (651,867 )
             Deferred rent liability (63,863 ) (45,096 )
             Deferred revenue (227,690 ) (419,905 )
             Deferred taxes 78,441 –
                 Net cash provided  by operating activities 670,800 400,575

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
    Purchases of property and equipment (442,688 ) (948,242 )
    Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment – 92,895
                 Net cash used in investing activities (442,688 ) (855,347 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
    Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 53,058 (140,901 )
    Bank line of credit proceeds (repayments) (408,269 ) 154,923
    Capital lease obligation repayments (69,815 ) (458,673 )
    Proceeds from issuance of subordinated convertible debt – 1,250,000
                 Net cash provided (used) by financing activities (425,026 ) 805,349
    Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (36,077 ) (36,546 )
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (232,991 ) 314,031

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 550,602 236,571

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $317,611 $550,602
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SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW  INFORMATION:
    Interest paid $301,023 $239,473
    Income taxes refunded $(28,104 ) $(91,764 )
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
    Capital lease additions $– $528,488

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Basis of Presentation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Media Sciences International,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Company” or “Media Sciences”) and
have been prepared in United States dollars, and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”).  Unless otherwise indicated, references in the consolidated financial statements
and these notes to 2010 and 2009 are to the Company’s fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Nature of Business and Principles of Consolidation – Media Sciences International, Inc. is a holding company which
conducts its business through its operating subsidiaries.  The Company is a manufacturer of business color printer
supplies, which the Company distributes through an international network of dealers and distributors.    All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates and Uncertainties – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  The Company’s
most significant estimates and assumptions made in the preparation of the financial statements relate to revenue
recognition, accounts receivable reserves, inventory reserves, income taxes, income tax valuation allowances, product
warranty costs and certain accrued expenses.  Actual results, as determined at a later date, could differ from those
estimates.

Liquidity – Management believes that cash on hand, cash available under its borrowing commitments and expected
cash generated from operating activities will be sufficient to meet the Company’s obligations and fund its day-to-day
operations for the next 12 months.  In the future, the Company’s operations may require additional funds and it may
seek to raise such additional funds through public or private sales of debt or equity securities, or securities convertible
or exchangeable into such securities, strategic relationships, bank debt, lease financing arrangements, or other
available means.  No assurance can be provided that additional funding, if sought, will be available or, if available,
will be on acceptable terms to meet the Company’s business needs.  If additional funds are raised through the issuance
of equity securities, stockholders may experience dilution, or such equity securities may have rights, preferences, or
privileges senior to those of the holders of the Company’s common stock.  If additional funds are raised through debt
financing, the debt financing may involve significant cash payment obligations and financial or operational covenants
that may restrict the Company’s ability to operate its business.  An inability to fund its operations or fulfill outstanding
obligations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Reclassifications – Certain reclassifications of prior year amounts have been made to conform to the current year
presentation.

Cumulative Change in Accounting Policy – In June 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-5 which provides that
an entity should use a two-step approach to evaluate whether an equity-lined financial instrument (or embedded
feature) is indexed to its own stock, including evaluating the instrument’s contingent exercise and settlement
provisions.  Equity-lined instruments (or embedded features) that otherwise meet the definition of a derivative as
outlined in ASC Topic 815, are not accounted for as derivatives if certain criteria are met, one of which is that the
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instrument (or embedded feature) must be indexed to the entity’s stock.  EITF 07-5 provides guidance on determining
if equity-linked instruments (or embedded features) such as warrants to purchase our stock are considered indexed to
our stock.
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED):

EITF 07-5 became effective for the Company in its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2009 and was applied to outstanding
instruments as of that date.  The adoption of the pronouncement’s requirements can affect the accounting for warrants
and many convertible instruments with provision that protect holders from a decline in the stock price (or “down-round”
provisions).  Down-round provisions reduce the exercise price of a warrant or convertible instrument if a company
either issues equity shares for a price that is lower than the exercise price of those instruments or issues new warrants
or convertible instruments that have a lower exercise price.

Outstanding instruments evaluated included (a) the Company’s outstanding convertible debt at July 1, 2009 and (b)
warrants issued concurrent with the convertible debt issuance.  With respect to the convertible debt element, based on
guidance found in ASC Topic 815, we determined the economic characteristics and risks of the conversion element
are clearly and closely related to and inseparable from the debt instrument.  Thus adoption of the pronouncement did
not affect the accounting treatment of the Company’s convertible debt.  A contingent beneficial conversion amount is
required to be calculated and recognized when and if the adjusted conversion price of the convertible debt is adjusted
to reflect a down-round stock issuance that reduces the conversion price below the $1.22 fair value of the common
stock on the issuance date of the convertible debt.

However, because the Company’s warrants have “down-round” provisions, they can no longer be recorded in
equity.  Beginning July 1, 2009, the Company recognized the fair value of these warrants as a liability on its
consolidated balance sheet, despite the fact that this deemed liability will never be settled in cash.  Further, EITF 07-5
requires warrants with “down-round” features to be recognized as a derivative liability.  Accordingly, changes in the fair
value of the warrants at each reporting period are required to be recognized as non-cash expense or income in the
consolidated statement of operations.

Upon adoption, a cumulative effect adjustment was recorded, based on amounts that would have been recognized if
this guidance had been applied from the issuance date of the affected instruments.  The following table illustrates the
changes to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet resulting from the implementation of EITF 07-5:

Balance at June 30,
2009

Cumulative Effect
Adjustment

Balance at July 1,
2009

Warrant liabilities – $ 6,780 $ 6,780
Additional paid-in capital $ 13,000,680 $ (327,524 ) $ 12,673,156
Accumulated deficit $ (2,658,171 ) $ 302,744 $ (2,337,427 )

The fair value of the warrants of $327,524 was included in additional paid-in capital on the issuance date of the
warrants (September 24, 2008).  As a result of reclassifying these warrants from equity to liabilities, the cumulative
effect of these adjustments on July 1, 2009 was a reduction of additional paid-in capital of $327,524 and a
corresponding reduction of the Company’s accumulated deficit, less the $6,780 fair value of the warrant obligation
recognized at July 1, 2009.  These warrant obligations were settled on March 30, 2010 in the transaction described
further in Note 3.

Fair Value Measurements- The Company measures fair value in accordance with authoritative guidance for fair value
measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework and gives guidance regarding the methods used for
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measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  The authoritative guidance defines fair
value as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants.  As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, there exists a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED):

•  Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the
ability to access as of the measurement date.

•  Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly observable for the asset or liability
or indirectly observable through corroboration with observable market data.

•  Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability only used when there is little, if any, market activity for the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value.

Recurring Fair Value Estimates- The Company’s recurring fair value measurements at June 30, 2010 were as follows:

Fair Value
as of

June 30, 2010

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets

for Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs  (Level

2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs  (Level

3)

Increases
(decreases)
during the
twelve

months ended
June 30, 2010

Liabilities:
  Warrant
obligations – – – – ($38)

These warrant obligations were settled on March 30, 2010 in the transaction described in Note 3 with the holders of
the Company’s convertible debt.

Recurring Level 3 Activity, Reconciliation and Basis for Valuation- The table below provides a reconciliation of the
beginning and ending balances for the major classes of assets and liabilities measured at fair value using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Changes in our Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3):

Increases
(decreases)

Liabilities:
  Balance as of July 1, 2009 $6,780
  Increase in fair value of warrants 4,962
       Balance as of December 31, 2009 $11,742
  Decrease in fair value of warrants (4,924 )
  Fair value of warrants reclassified to equity at March 30, 2010 (6,818 )
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       Balance as of June 30, 2010 $ –

The fair value of each warrant group is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions as of (number of warrants in thousands):
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Original Value July 1, 2009 March 30, 2010
Number of warrants 1,515 1,515 1,515
Exercise price $1.65 $1.65 $1.65
Risk free interest rate 2.13% 1.53% 1.50%
Expected warrant lives in
years

3.0 2.9 2.8

Expected volatility 61.3% 74% 74%
Expected dividend yields None None None
Fair value per share $0.216 $0.005 $0.005
Common stock price $1.43 $0.17(a) $0.195(a)
Fair value of warrants $327,524 $6,780 $6,818

(a) Due to the low average daily trading volume of our common stock, we have discounted the common stock price in
theBlack-Scholes valuation model to reflect the adverse impact on our share price which would result from a
dramatic increase in the number of shares of our common stock outstanding upon the exercise of these warrants.

There are no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments- The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and short-term debt reasonably approximate their fair value due to the relatively short maturities of these
instruments.  Long-term debt carrying values approximate their fair values at the balance sheet dates.  The fair value
estimates presented herein were based on market or other information available to management.  The use of different
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies could have a significant effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

Cash Equivalents – All highly-liquid debt instruments with original or remaining maturities of less than three months at
the date of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents. 

Restricted Cash – At June 30, 2010 and 2009, $87,843 and $140,901, respectively, of bank deposits located in China
were classified as restricted due to regulatory restrictions impacting the availability of the funds during legal
dissolution of the legal entity.  This restricted cash is reflected in other current assets in the condensed consolidated
balance sheets.

Inventories – Inventories, consisting of materials, labor, manufacturing overhead, and associated in-bound shipping and
freight costs, are stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO)
basis.  Abnormal inventory costs such as costs of idle facilities, excess freight and handling costs, and wasted
materials, if any, are recognized as current period charges.  The Company reviews the adequacy of its inventory
reserves on a quarterly basis.  Additions to inventory reserves are recognized as current period charges to cost of
goods sold.  The Company writes down inventory based on forecasted demand and technological obsolescence. 
These factors are impacted by market and economic conditions, technology changes, new product introductions and
changes in strategic direction and require estimates that may include uncertain elements.  Actual demand may differ
from forecasted demand and such differences may have a material effect on recorded inventory values.
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Property and Equipment – Property and equipment are reported at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization.  Depreciation of property and equipment is based on the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which are three to seven years for furniture, equipment, automobiles, tooling and molds.  Leasehold
improvements are amortized by the straight-line method over the shorter of the life of the related asset or the term of
the underlying lease.  Construction in progress is not depreciated until the assets are placed in service.  Depreciation
and amortization associated with the Company’s manufacturing operations, including tooling and molds, are classified
in the consolidated statements of operations as components of cost of goods sold.  Depreciation
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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and amortization related to assets employed in the Company’s research and development activities is classified as a
component of research and development expense.  All other depreciation and amortization is classified as a
component of selling, general and administrative expense.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets – The Company evaluates the carrying value of its long-lived assets with finite lives
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may be impaired in
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 360, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”  An impairment loss is recognized when estimated future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset including disposition are less than the carrying value of the asset.  No
impairment adjustments to long-lived assets were made during the years ended June 30, 2010 or 2009.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets – The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets of
acquired businesses is considered to be goodwill.  Under authoritative guidance, purchased goodwill is not amortized,
but rather, periodically reviewed for impairment.  We have remaining net goodwill and net acquired intangible assets
of approximately $3.58 million at June 30, 2010 and 2009.  This goodwill resulted from the acquisition of
substantially all of the assets of ultraHue, Inc. in 1999.  We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit
level.  We have determined that we have only one reporting unit.

We review goodwill annually at our fiscal yearend and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable.  Under authoritative guidance we are required to follow the  two-step
impairment test of goodwill.  In the first step, we compare the fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying
value.  We determine the fair value of our reporting unit based on an income approach using a discounted cash flow
methodology.  This requires us to use significant judgment including estimation of future cash flows, which is
dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, determination of our
weighted average cost of capital for purposes of establishing a discount rate, and relevant market data.  If the fair
value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit, goodwill is not
impaired and we are not required to perform further testing.  If the carrying value of the net assets of the reporting unit
exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then we must perform the second step of impairment testing in order to
determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill.  If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill
exceeds it implied fair value then we record an impairment loss equal to the difference.  Based on our valuation
results, management determined that no goodwill impairment charge was required as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

If our estimates and assumptions are not materially achieved, we may be required to record goodwill impairment
charges in future periods, whether in connection with the next annual impairment testing at the end of fiscal 2011 or
prior to that, if any such change constitutes a triggering event outside of the quarter from when the annual goodwill
impairment test is performed.  It is not possible at this time to determine if any such future impairment charge would
result or, if it does, whether such charge would be material.  If we determine that any of our goodwill or intangible
assets, including technology purchased in acquisitions, are impaired, we would be required to take a charge to
earnings, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Contingencies and Litigation – The Company is subject to the possibility of losses from various contingencies.
Considerable judgment is necessary to estimate the probability and amount of any loss from such contingencies.   An
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accrual is made in the period in which it becomes probable that a liability has been incurred or an asset has been
impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.  With respect to litigation, the Company assesses the
adequacy of any loss provisions based on the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and
other information and events pertaining to a particular case.  Based on experience, the Company believes that damage
amounts claimed in the specific matters are not a meaningful indicator of the Company’s potential liability.  Litigation
is inherently unpredictable.  Accordingly, it is possible that cash flows or results of operations could be
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materially and adversely affected in any particular period by the unfavorable resolution of a contingency or because of
the diversion of management’s attention and the creation of significant expenses (see Note 5 “Commitments, Litigation
and Contingencies”).

Concentrations of Credit Risk – Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable.  The Company
from time to time may invest its cash indirectly in a variety of money-market instruments, including, but not limited
to, commercial paper, repurchase agreements, variable rate obligations, certificates of deposit, United States Treasury
and agency securities.  The Company also maintains cash balances with financial institutions which are insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 each.  At various times during the year, such balances do
exceed the FDIC limit.  The Company has not experienced any credit losses with respect to its cash and cash
equivalent assets.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to all trade receivables is considered to be limited due to the quantity and
diversity of customers comprising the Company’s customer base.  The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral to secure accounts receivable.  When considered
appropriate, the Company may utilize letters of credit or other means to mitigate credit risk.  For its non U.S. trade
receivables and certain U.S. trade receivables the Company maintains credit insurance.  Most  U.S. trade receivables
are not covered under this credit insurance.  The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit losses based
upon expected collectability of its uninsured accounts receivable.

Vendor Concentrations – In 2010 and 2009, one vendor represented 13% of the Company’s cost of goods sold.  No
other vendor represented 10% or more of the Company’s costs of goods sold in 2010.

Major Customers – In 2010, three customers represented 19%, 12% and 10% of the Company’s net revenues and 12%,
14% and 12%, respectively, of accounts receivable at June 30, 2010.  In 2009, four customers collectively represented
55% of the Company’s net revenues and 47% of its accounts receivable at June 30, 2009.  Among this group, the
largest two customers represented 18% and 14%, respectively, of the Company’s net revenues and 21% and 12% of
accounts receivable at June 30, 2009.

Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized at the point of shipment and transfer of title for goods sold, provided
collection is reasonably assured.  Net revenues include $24,000 and $17,000 of reimbursed shipping and freight
expense for 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Provisions for rebates, product returns and discounts to customers are
recognized as reductions in determining net revenues in the same period as the related revenues are recorded.  Any
sales or other taxes collected from customers are not reflected in the consolidated statements of operations, but instead
are reflected as current obligations in the consolidated balance sheets until disbursed to the respective taxing authority.

Under the INKlusive program, Media Sciences provided a customer with a business color printer or multifunction
device, on-site service and a defined, regular shipment of supplies (ink or toner), all for the cost of just the
supplies.  Media Sciences offered this program in conjunction with a financing company.  Media Sciences does not
own or otherwise finance the cost of the printer, nor does Media Sciences guarantee the credit worthiness of the
customer.  Under an agreement with the financing company, at the time of placement of the INKlusive printer, the
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Company was paid in full for the printer and the two years of supplies.  Consequently, the difference in timing
between receipt of contract payment from the finance company and when the supplies are shipped gives rise to a
deferred revenue liability on the Company’s balance sheet.  The Company amortizes this deferred revenue liability and
recognizes revenue ratably over the contract term as the Company ships supplies to the customer.  At June 30, 2010
and 2009, the deferred revenue liability totaled $20,000 and $248,000, respectively.  The current and non-current
components of the deferred revenue obligation are reflected in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Based on declining INKlusive sales volume, we made the decision to discontinue the program effective April 1,
2009.  Although no new INKlusive contracts were originated after April 1, 2009, remaining commitments under
existing INKlusive supply obligations continue to be honored.  The INKlusive program was a multi-element
program.  The Company recognizes revenue under this program in accordance with the provisions ASC Topic
605.  Under those provisions, revenue was recognized for the printer upon shipment to the customers, while revenue
for the supplies and services associated with the program are recognized equally over the contract term in proportion
to product shipments.

Product Warranty – The Company warranties its products’ suitability for use in the intended printer models and that its
products are free of defects that could cause damage to these printers.  Costs covered under the product warranty
include customary charges for the repair or replacement of the printer with an equivalent new or refurbished printer, at
the Company’s sole discretion.  The warranty does not cover damage to the product or a printer caused by accident,
abuse, misuse, natural disaster, human error, unauthorized disassembly, repair, or modification.  The Company
accounts for the estimated warranty cost as a charge to product warranty, a captioned component of cost of goods
sold, when revenue is recognized.  The Company’s estimated warranty liability is based on historic product
performance and program expense.  The Company updates its warranty program estimates, based on actual
experience, every quarter.  The actual product performance and/or program expense profiles may differ, and in those
cases the Company adjusts warranty accruals accordingly (see Note 6 “Product Warranty Expenses”). 

Deferred Rent Liability – Rent expense related to operating leases where scheduled rent increases exist is determined
by expensing the total amount of rent due over the life of the operating lease on a straight-line basis.  The difference
between the rent paid under the terms of the lease and the rent expensed on a straight-line basis is included in deferred
rent liability on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Shipping and Freight – Shipping and freight costs are included as a separate captioned component of cost of goods sold
in the consolidated statements of operations and represent out-bound costs incurred to ship goods to customers.  These
amounts exclude in-bound shipping and freight expense associated with acquired raw materials and finished goods,
which are included in cost of goods sold.  Reimbursements by customers of out-bound shipping and freight expense
are included in net revenues.

Research and Development – Research and product development costs, which consist of salary and related benefits
costs of its technical staff, as well as product development costs including research of existing patents, conceptual
formulation, design and testing of product alternatives, and construction of prototypes, are expensed as incurred.  It
also includes indirect costs, including facility costs based on the department’s proportionate share of facility
use.  Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Expense – Advertising expenses are deferred until the first use of the advertising.  Deferred advertising
costs at June 30, 2010 and 2009 totaled approximately $24,000 and $0, respectively.  Advertising expense for 2010
and 2009 amounted to approximately $673,000 and $715,000, respectively.

Employee Benefit Plan – The Company maintains defined contribution plans for eligible employees, as defined.  The
U.S. plan allows for employee contributions to be matched by the Company.  The U.K. plan is 100% Company
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funded.  The Company’s contributions for 2010 and 2009 were $47,000 and $40,000, respectively.

Income Taxes – The Company recognizes deferred tax assets, net of applicable valuation allowances, related to net
operating loss carry-forwards and certain temporary differences and deferred tax liabilities related to certain temporary
differences.  The Company recognizes a future tax benefit to the extent that realization of such benefit is considered to
be more likely than not.  This determination is based primarily on projected taxable income.
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Otherwise, a valuation allowance is applied.  To the extent that the Company’s deferred tax assets require valuation
allowances in the future, the recording of such valuation allowances would result in an increase to its tax provision in
the period in which the Company determines that such a valuation allowance is required.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Plans – The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the
provisions of ASC 718, “Compensation – Stock Compensation”, establishes accounting for stock-based awards
exchanged for employee services.  Stock-based compensation cost is measured at grant date, based on the fair value of
the award, and is recognized as expense over the employee’s requisite service period. 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (loss) and Foreign Currency Translation – Assets and liabilities of the
Company’s United Kingdom subsidiary have been translated at current exchange rates, and related revenues and
expenses have been translated at average rates of exchange in effect during the period.  The functional currencies of
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are as follows:  Media Sciences UK, Ltd., the British Pound, Media Sciences
(Dongguan) Company Limited, the Chinese Yuan, and Media Sciences Hong Kong Co. Ltd., the Hong Kong
Dollar.  Cumulative translation adjustments have been classified within accumulated other comprehensive income,
which is a separate component of shareholders’ equity.  Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded as a
component of selling, general and administrative expense.   Other comprehensive income (loss) represents net income
(loss) and currency translation adjustments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Fair Value Accounting

In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. This guidance now requires a
reporting entity to disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and also to describe the reasons for these transfers. This authoritative guidance also requires enhanced
disclosure of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. The guidance for Level 3 fair value measurements
disclosures becomes effective for the Company’s interim reporting period ending September 30, 2011 and the
Company does not expect that this guidance will have an impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash
flows as it is disclosure-only in nature.

Other Accounting Changes

In October 2009, the FASB amended its EITF authoritative guidance addressing revenue arrangements with multiple
deliverables.  The guidance requires revenue to be allocated to multiple elements using relative fair value based on
vendor-specific-objective-evidence, third party evidence or estimated selling price. The residual method also becomes
obsolete under this guidance.  This guidance is effective for our interim reporting period ending on September 30,
2010.  We are currently evaluating the impact of the implementation of this guidance on our financial position, results
of operations and cash flows.
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In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-17, Revenue Recognition – Milestone Method.  This ASU provides
guidance on the criteria that should be met for determining whether the milestone method of revenue recognition is
appropriate.  Under the milestone method of revenue recognition, consideration that is contingent upon achievement
of a milestone in its entirety can be recognized as revenue in the period in which the milestone is achieved only if the
milestone meets all criteria to be considered substantive.  This standard provides the criteria to be met for a milestone
to be considered substantive which includes that: a) performance consideration earned by achieving the milestone be
commensurate with either performance to achieve the milestone or the enhancement of the value of the item delivered
as a result of a specific outcome resulting from performance to achieve the milestone; and b) relate to
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past performance and be reasonable relative to all deliverables and payment terms in the arrangement.  This standard
is effective on a prospective basis for milestones in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010.  We do not expect
adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our financial position or the results of our operations.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-13, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718).  This ASU
provides amendments to Topic 718 to clarify that an employee share-based payment award with an exercise price
denominated in the currency of a market in which a substantial portion of the entity’s equity securities trades should
not be considered to contain a condition that is not a market, performance, or service condition.  Therefore, an entity
would not classify such an award as a liability if it otherwise qualifies as equity.  This standard is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2010.  We are currently
evaluating the impact of the implementation of this guidance on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share – Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed using the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding.  Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is computed using the weighted average
number of shares outstanding as adjusted for the incremental shares attributable to the assumed exercise of
outstanding options and warrants to purchase common stock, and other potentially dilutive securities.

The following table sets forth the computation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Numerator for basic and diluted:
    Net loss $(3,618,812 ) $(1,675,273 )

Denominator :
    For basic loss per common share
       -  weighted average shares outstanding 12,192,419 11,727,175
    Effect of dilutive securities -  stock options,
        restricted stock units and warrants – –
    For diluted loss per common share
       - weighted average shares outstanding
       adjusted for assumed exercises 12,192,419 11,727,175

Basic loss per share $(0.30 ) $(0.14 )

Diluted loss per share $(0.30 ) $(0.14 )

The following warrants and options to purchase common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 as the Company was in a net loss position and all
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potential common shares derived from stock options would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

49

Edgar Filing: MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

92



To Index

MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED):

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Anti-dilutive warrants and options 769,471 825,774

NOTE 2 – FINANCIAL STATEMENT COMPONENTS:

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of June 30,
2010 2009

Accounts receivable, net
      Accounts receivable, gross $2,863,598 $3,513,756
      Allowance for doubtful accounts (20,000 ) (50,000 )
      Allowance for returns (168,680 ) (36,206 )

$2,674,918 $3,427,550

Inventories, net of reserves
      Raw materials $1,578,321 $2,184,245
      Finished goods 4,193,480 4,549,431
      Less:  reserves for obsolescence (295,760 ) (341,235 )

$5,476,041 $6,392,441

Property and Equipment, net Useful Lives
      Equipment 3 – 7 years $3,036,193 $2,801,027
      Furniture and fixtures 7 years 578,672 578,672
      Automobiles 5 years 30,434 30,434
      Leasehold improvements 5 – 10 years 921,157 895,909
      Tooling and molds 3 years 3,018,087 2,908,778
      Construction-in-progress (tooling and die) 370,196 297,230

7,954,739 7,512,050
      Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 6,102,608 5,415,064

$1,852,131 $2,096,986

Goodwill and other intangible assets, net
      Goodwill $3,965,977 $3,965,977
      Other 1-5 years 46,000 46,000

4,011,977 4,011,977
      Less: Accumulated amortization 427,746 427,746

$3,584,231 $3,584,231
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The Company’s indebtedness under secured commercial loan agreements consisted of the following:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Short-term capital lease obligation – $ 69,815

Bank term notes $ 1,500,000 $ 1,500,000

Bank line of credit 840,863
1,
249,132

Less: current maturities – –
Long-term debt $ 2,340,863 $ 2,749,132
Total bank debt $ 2,340,863 $ 2,818,947

On September 27, 2010, we amended our existing credit facility with Sovereign Bank to extend to October 1,
2011.  As amended, the advance limit under the line of credit is the lesser of: (a) $4,000,000; or (b) up to 80% of
eligible domestic accounts receivable and up to the lesser of $1,000,000 or 75% of eligible foreign receivables plus up
to the lesser of: (i) $2,500,000; or (ii) 50% of eligible inventory; or (iii) 60% of the maximum amount available to be
advanced under the line.  The line of credit is collateralized by a first priority security interest in substantially all of
the Company’s U.S. based assets and its foreign receivables and requires payments of interest only through the
facilities three year term.  As amended, the interest rate on the term note and the line of credit varies based on the
bank’s prime rate and is equal to the greater of the bank’s prime rate plus 4% or 8%.  At June 30, 2010 the applicable
interest rate on amounts drawn under the term note and the line of credit, prior to amendment was 7.25%.

The revolving loan may be converted into one or more term notes upon mutual agreement of the parties.  On February
12, 2008, the Company entered into a non-amortizing term note with the bank in the amount of $1,500,000, due
October 1, 2011, as amended.  At June 30, 2010, this note had a principal balance of $1,500,000.  As of June 30, 2010,
the Company had an outstanding balance of $840,863 under the revolving line and approximately $999,000 of
undrawn availability under the credit line.  At June 30, 2009, the Company had outstanding with the bank the
$1,500,000 term note and had an outstanding balance of $1,249,132 drawn under its revolving credit line, with about
$1,005,000 of undrawn availability.

The Company’s current credit facilities are subject to financial covenants.  Current financial covenants include
monitoring a ratio of debt to tangible net worth and an ebitda or a fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the loan
agreements.  At June 30, 2009, the Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants.  At June 30, 2010,
the Company was not in compliance with its Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenant, which was waived by the
Company’s bank via an amendment dated September 27, 2010.

Convertible Debt

On September 24, 2008, the Company completed a $1,250,000 convertible debt financing with MicroCapital Fund,
LP and MicroCapital Fund, Ltd. (“MicroCapital”).  The Company issued three year notes, bearing interest at 10%
payable quarterly and convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at $1.65 per share. The Company also
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issued (a) five year warrants to purchase 378,787 shares of the Company’s common stock at $1.65 per share, and (b)
three year warrants allowing MicroCapital to repeat its investment up to $1,250,000 on substantially the same terms
and conditions.
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The various elements of the September 24, 2008 transaction were recorded on a relative fair value basis in accordance
with authoritative guidance.  The $486,615 fair value of the warrants and the debt’s beneficial conversion feature was
recorded to equity and as a debt discount to the value of the convertible note.  This discount is being amortized using
the effective interest method over the three year term of the convertible note.  Amortization of debt discount on this
convertible note payable amounted to $146,453 and $84,785, respectively, for the years ended June 30, 2010 and
2009, respectively.  The remaining unamortized discount was $255,376 at June 30, 2010.  In connection with this
transaction, the Company also recognized a $63,955 increase in its deferred tax liabilities reflecting the non-deductible
nature of future debt discount amortization that will result from the value of the beneficial conversion feature.

On March 30, 2010, the Company entered into agreements with MicroCapital, whereby certain terms and conditions
of the 10% convertible notes issued on September 24, 2008, were modified and all of the warrants issued and
contingently issuable to MicroCapital were repurchased and cancelled.  Modifications to the terms and conditions of
the 10% convertible notes included elimination of convertibility of the notes and anti-dilution provisions.  At June 30,
2010, as a result of this transaction, the MicroCapital debt is now reflected as 10% subordinated unsecured debt.

Before the transaction, 2,272,726 shares of the Company’s common stock were issuable or contingently issuable.  In
consideration of the modifications of the loans and the repurchases of the warrants, 400,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock were issued.  On April 20, 2010, the Company filed a registration statement covering the resale of the
shares of common stock issued in this transaction.

NOTE 4 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The effect of recording stock-based compensation for the years ended June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009 was as
follows:

Year ended
June 30, 2010

Year ended
June 30, 2009

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:
           Employee stock options $ 278,758 $ 323,832
           Non-employee director stock options – 79,293
           Employee restricted stock units 220,031 300,415
           Non-employee director restricted stock units 99,570 132,850
 Forfeiture rate adjustment – (56,751 )
Amounts capitalized in inventory (10,694 ) (2,625 )
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 587,665 $ 777,014
Tax effect of stock-based compensation recognized (197,293 ) (275,376 )
Net stock-based compensation expense recognized in 2010 and 2009 $ 390,372 $ 501,638

As of June 30, 2010, the unrecognized stock-based compensation balance was $335,416 after estimated forfeitures and
will be recognized over an estimated weighted average amortization period of about 1.6 years.
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During the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company granted 45,000 stock options with an estimated total grant-date
fair value of $6,814 after estimated forfeitures.  During the same period, the Company granted 592,000 shares of
restricted stock with a grant date fair value of $248,960 after estimated forfeitures.
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During the year ended June 30, 2009, the Company granted 435,047 stock options with an estimated total grant-date
fair value of $271,182 after estimated forfeitures.  During the same period, the Company granted 613,698 shares of
restricted stock with a grant date fair value of $549,997 after estimated forfeitures.

Valuation Assumptions.  The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, consistent with the provisions of ASC 718.  The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the straight-line attribution approach with the following
weighted-average assumptions without regard to estimated forfeitures:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Risk-free interest rate 2.3% 2.8%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%
Expected stock price volatility 64% 58%
Average expected life of options 4.5 years 3.2 years

The Company used its historical stock price volatility to compute the expected volatility for purposes of valuing stock
options expense.  The Company is using the simplified method for determining the expected life of the
options.  Under this method, the Company calculates the expected term of an option grant by averaging its vesting and
contractual term.  Based on studies of the Company’s historic actual option terms, compared with expected terms
predicted by the simplified method, the Company has concluded that the simplified method yields materially accurate
expected term estimates.  The Company estimates is applicable risk-free rate based upon the yield of U.S. Treasury
securities having maturities similar to the estimated term of an option grant, adjusted to reflect its continuously
compounded “zero-coupon” equivalent.

Equity Incentive Program.  The Company’s equity incentive program is a broad-based, long-term retention program
that is intended to attract and retain qualified management and technical employees, and align stockholder and
employee interests.  The equity incentive program presently consists of three plans (the “Plans”): the Company's 1998
Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”); the Company’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”); and the Company’s 2009
Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”).  Under these Plans, non-employee directors, officers, key employees,
consultants and all other employees may be granted options to purchase shares of our stock, restricted stock units and
other types of equity awards.  The stock options (which may be “incentive stock options” within the meaning of Section
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) entitle the holder to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock for up to ten years from the date of grant (five years for persons owning more than 10% of the total
combined voting power of the Company) at a price not less than the fair market value (110% of fair market value for
persons owning more than 10% of the combined voting power of the Company) of the common stock on the date of
grant.  In general, any employee, director, officer or exclusive agent of, or advisor or consultant to, the Company or a
related entity, is eligible to participate in the Plan.  Vesting periods, if any, are determined by the Board of
Directors.  The outstanding option grants vest over periods not exceeding five years.  The stock options are
nontransferable, except upon death.
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Under the Plans, stock options generally have a vesting period of three to five years, are exercisable for a period not to
exceed ten years from the date of issuance and are not granted at prices less than the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the grant date.  Restricted stock units may be granted with varying service-based vesting
requirements.

On June 17, 2008 the Company’s 1998 Plan ended and therefore there are no common shares remaining available for
future issuance under the 1998 Plan.  Under the Company’s 2006 Plan, 1,000,000 common shares are authorized for
issuance.  As of June 30, 2010, 975,942 common shares were issued as a result of awards of options or other
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equity instruments under the 2006 Plan, leaving 24,058 available under the Plan for future issuance.  Under the
Company’s 2009 Plan, 1,250,000 common shares are authorized for issuance.  As of June 30, 2010, 812,000 common
shares were issued as a result of awards of options or other equity instruments under the 2009 Plan, leaving 438,000
available under the Plan for future issuance.

The following table summarizes the combined stock option plan and non-plan activity for the indicated periods: 

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Balance outstanding at June 30, 2008 899,894 $ 3.86
Year ended June 30, 2009:
Options granted 435,047 2.03
Options exercised – –
Options cancelled/expired/forfeited (249,725 ) 2.64
Balance outstanding at June 30, 2009 1,085,216 $ 3.41
Year ended June 30, 2010:
Options granted 45,000 .42
Options exercised – –
Options cancelled/expired/forfeited (53,088 ) 3.98
Balance outstanding at June 30, 2010 1,077,128 $ 3.25

The options outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2010 were in the following exercise price ranges:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise
Prices

Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life-Years

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
Vested and
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$
0.43 to
$0.85 71,600 5.3 $ .48 26,600 $ .59

$
1.00 to
$2.00 411,248 3.1 1.96 271,700 1.93

$
2.01 to
$6.33 594,280 4.4 4.48 481,171 4.52

1,077,128 4.0 $ 3.25 779,471 $ 3.48

At June 30, 2010, none of the Company’s exercisable options were “in-the-money.”   Accordingly, all outstanding and
exercisable options at that date had no aggregate intrinsic value.
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The weighted average grant date fair value of options, as determined under ASC Topic 718, granted during the year
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was $0.22 and $0.84 per share, respectively. 

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was $0 and $0,
respectively.  The total cash received from employees as a result of employee stock option exercises during the years
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was $0 and $0, respectively.  In connection with these exercises, the tax benefits
realized by the Company for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were $0 and $0, respectively.

The Company settles employee stock option exercises with newly issued common shares.
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Restricted Stock Units. During the year ended June 30, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the grant of
340,000 shares of restricted stock units to senior management and 252,000 shares to non-employee directors.  These
restricted stock units generally vest in equal installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date
for senior management.  The restricted stock units for non-employee directors vest over two years from the grant
date.  The value of the restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on
the date of award.  The total grant date fair value of the restricted stock units granted during the year ended June 30,
2010 was $242,940 after estimated forfeitures.  Stock based compensation cost for restricted stock units for the year
ended June 30, 2010 was $319,601.

 During the year ended June 30, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the grant of 480,363 shares of
restricted stock units to selected employees and senior management and 133,335 shares to non-employee
directors.  These restricted stock units generally vest over one to two years for the employees and senior
management.  The restricted stock units for non-employee directors vest over one year from the grant date.  The value
of the restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of the
award.  The total grant date fair value of the restricted stock units granted during the year ended June 30, 2009 was
$549,997 after estimated forfeitures.  Stock based compensation cost for restricted stock units for the year ended June
30, 2009 was $433,265.

 As of June 30, 2010, there was $335,416 of total unrecognized deferred stock-based compensation after estimated
forfeitures related to non-vested restricted stock units granted under the Plans.  That cost is expected to be recognized
over an estimated weighted average period of 1.6 years. 

 For substantially all restricted stock grants, at the date of grant, the recipient has all rights of a stockholder, subject to
certain restrictions on transferability and a risk of forfeiture.  These restricted stock grants generally vest in equal
installments over one to five years from the date of grant.  These restricted stock units are included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share utilizing the treasury stock method.  All restricted stock grants are approved by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

The following table summarizes the Company’s restricted stock unit activity for the indicated periods: 

Number of
Shares

Grant Date
Fair Value

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value

Per Share
Balance unvested at June 30, 2008 85,137 $ 423,538 $ 4.97
Year ended June 30, 2009:
Restricted stock units granted 613,698 644,086 1.05
Restricted stock units vested (63,002 ) (274,030 ) 4.35
Restricted stock units cancelled/forfeited (10,042 ) (20,084 ) 2.00
Balance unvested at June 30, 2009 625,791 $ 773,510 $ 1.24
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Year ended June 30, 2010:
Restricted stock units granted 592,000 312,110 0.53
Restricted stock units vested (527,948 ) (513,425 ) 0.97
Restricted stock units cancelled/forfeited (97,383 ) (115,866 ) 1.19
Balance unvested at June 30, 2010 592,460 $ 456,330 $ 0.77
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Litigation – On June 23, 2006, Xerox Corporation filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the United States District
Court, for the Southern District of New York, Case No. 06CV4872, against Media Sciences International, Inc. and
Media Sciences, Inc., alleging that the Company’s solid inks designed for use in the Xerox Phaser 8500 and 8550
printers infringe four Xerox-held patents related to the shape of the ink sticks in combination with the Xerox ink stick
feed assembly.  The suit seeks unspecified damages and fees.  In the Company’s answer and counterclaims in this
action, it denied infringement and it seeks a finding of invalidity of the Xerox patents in question.  The Company also
submitted counterclaims against Xerox for breach of contract and violation of U.S. antitrust laws, seeking treble
damages and recovery of legal fees.  On September 14, 2007, the court denied Xerox’s motion to dismiss the antitrust
counterclaims brought by the Company.  Pre-trial discovery on the infringement action was completed in September
2007.  Pre-trial discovery on the Company’s antitrust action was completed in July 2008.  In March 2009 the court
dismissed, without prejudice, the Company’s antitrust claims relating to Xerox’s loyalty rebate programs.  In the ruling,
the court relied on a 2001 Settlement Agreement between the parties resulting from a different matter, and found that
before such claims are pursued, the Company must submit to arbitration.  In September 2009, the court dismissed the
Company’s remaining antitrust claims not relating to Xerox’s loyalty rebate programs.  In March 2010, the court issued
a ruling on a Markman hearing held in November 2008.  The Company believes the ruling to be highly favorable.  In
July 2010, the Company filed a motion for summary judgment in its favor based on the grounds that the ink sticks
sold by the Company do not infringe the claims asserted by Xerox, as they were construed by the Court.  Should these
matters not be decided on summary judgment, the patent infringement claims remaining before the court are not likely
to be heard at trial before mid 2011.  The loss of all or a part of the patent infringement claims could have a material
adverse affect on our results of operations and financial position.  The Company believes that its inks do not infringe
any valid U.S. patents and that it therefore has meritorious grounds for success in this case.  The Company intends to
vigorously defend these allegations of infringement.  There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be
successful in its defense of this action and in its counterclaims.  Proceeds of this suit, if any, will be recorded in the
period when received.

Other than the above, as at June 30, 2010, the Company was not a party to any material pending legal proceeding,
other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business.

Leases – We lease our premises under operating lease agreements which expire through 2015 and equipment under
operating leases that expire through 2013.

On July 27, 2005, the Company entered into an equipment lease line of credit with an affiliate of the former
bank.  The former bank affiliate holds title to equipment leased under the facility.  In December 2005, the Company
entered into an operating lease under this line that required monthly payments of $3,453, for 72 months.  This
equipment was subsequently purchased for $163,668 on May 9, 2008.  In September 2006, the Company entered into
an additional operating lease under this facility that required monthly payments of $10,621, for 72 months.  As a result
of a cross default and collateralization provision associated with the former debt facility, the Company agreed to
refinance this remaining operating lease held by the leasing affiliate of the former bank.  Under terms of a separate
waiver and amendment with this leasing affiliate, the Company received an extension of time to refinance or payoff
the lease obligation until September 30, 2009.  This obligation was fully satisfied in August 2009.
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In January 2008, the Company entered in an operating lease agreement, covering various equipment used for research
and development activities.  This lease requires monthly payments of $6,126 for 48 months.

In June 2010, the Company entered in an operating lease agreement, covering an automobile used for CEO
transportation.  This lease requires monthly payments of $980 for 36 months.
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MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5 – COMMITMENTS, LITIGATION AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED):

Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Operating Sublease Net Lease
Year Ending June 30, Leases Rents Obligation
2011 578,269 223,392 354,877
2012 298,926 – 298,926
2013 261,190 – 261,190
2014 250,410 – 250,410
Thereafter 146,073 – 146,073
Total future minimum lease payments $ 1,534,868 223,392 1,311,476

Rent expense was $510,600 net of $243,400 of sublease rents for the year ended June 30, 2010 and $740,800 net of
$246,400 of sublease rents for the year ended June 30, 2009.

NOTE 6 – PRODUCT WARRANTY EXPENSES:

The Company provides a warranty for all of its consumable supply products and for printers under its INKlusive
program.  The Company’s warranty stipulates that it will pay reasonable and customary charges for the repair of
printers requiring service as a result of using the Company’s products.  The Company estimates warranty costs that
may be incurred and records a liability in the amount of such costs at the time product revenue is recognized.  Factors
that may affect the warranty obligation reserve include the volume of products shipped to customers, historical and
anticipated rates of warranty claims and expected cost per claim.  The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of
its recorded warranty reserve.  Product warranty expense is classified as a component of costs of goods sold.

Changes in accrued product warranty reserve for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Warranty reserve at the beginning of the year $ 436,578 $ 198,666

Warranties accrued during the period 1,893,161 1,561,785
Warranties settled during the period (1,897,191) (1,323,873)
Net change in warranty reserve (4,030 ) 237,912

Warranty reserve at the end of the year $ 432,548 $ 436,578
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MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES:

The components of provision (benefit) for income taxes are summarized as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Current:
    Federal $ (859,919 )  $ –
    State 4,160 13,654
    Foreign 22,472 15,350
          Total Current $ (833,287 ) $ 29,004
Deferred:
    Federal $ 2,769,702 $ (736,738 )
    State – 532,168
    Foreign – –
          Total Deferred 2,769,702 (204,570 )
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 1,936,415 $ (175,566 )

A reconciliation of the total income tax benefit provided at the federal statutory rate (34%) to the income tax benefit
recorded is as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
2010 2009

Expected income tax benefit $ (572,015 ) $ (629,312 )
State income taxes (net of federal benefit) 4,160 9,012
Valuation allowance 2,481,798 532,168
Other (including permanent differences) 22,472 (87,434 )

$ 1,936,415 $ (175,566 )

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

As of June 30,
2010 2009

Deferred tax assets:
    Accounts receivable $ 75,359 $ 34,431
    Inventories 230,296 248,459
    Deferred compensation 569,122 573,258
    Deferred rent liability 11,380 36,887
    Accruals and reserves 177,296 183,859
    Net operating loss carry-forwards 3,205,242 1,638,555
    Federal and state credits 416,032 845,980
    Other – 29,266
            Total deferred tax assets $ 4,684,727 $ 3,590,695
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    Valuation allowance (4,433,445) (639,470 )

Deferred tax liabilities:
   Intangible assets $ (924,801 ) $ (721,521 )
   Fixed assets (178,452 ) (178,452 )
   Other (52,951 ) –
            Total deferred tax liabilities $ (1,156,204) $ (899,973 )

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (904,922 ) $ 2,051,252
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MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED):

At June 30, 2010, the Company has available Federal net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $7,700,000
which will begin to expire as of June 30, 2028 and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately
$9,100,000 which will begin to expire in the years ending June 30, 2011  through June 30, 2016.  In accordance with
ASC Topic 718, excess tax benefits of approximately $320,000 associated with approximately $800,000 of the
Federal net operating loss carry-forwards will be credited to additional paid-in capital as such losses were the result of
excess tax deductions related to share based compensation.

Based on our projection of taxable income and tax planning strategies, along with the recurrence of substantial losses
before income taxes for the past three fiscal years, the Company has determined that it is more likely than not that it
will be unable to utilize substantially all of its deferred tax assets.  As a result, a valuation allowance has been
recorded against substantially all of the deferred tax assets.  The Company has recorded a deferred tax liability for
indefinite-lived intangibles.

The Company has released its reserves for uncertain tax positions.  The reserves are no longer required as the future
tax benefits were effectively written-off with the recording of the valuation allowance noted above.

During the twelve months beginning July 1, 2010, the Company does not expect any material change in the amount of
its uncertain tax positions.  The Company is not currently under audit in any of the jurisdictions in which it conducts
operations.  Generally, all tax years prior to and including June 30, 2006 are closed under statute.

It is the Company’s continuing policy to account for interest and penalties associated with all of its income tax
obligations as a component of income tax expense.  No interest or penalties were recognized as part of this provision
during the twelve months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009.  No interest or penalties were reported in the balance sheet
as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

A roll-forward of activity associated with the Company’s uncertain tax position is as follows:

Balance as of  July 1, 2009 $941,501
    Changes in amounts related to prior year positions (941,501 )
    Changes in amounts related to current year positions –
    Changes due to settlements –
    Changes due to lapses in statutes of limitation –
Balance as of June 30, 2010 $–
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8 – IMPAIRMENT CHARGE:

In conjunction with a plan approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company closed its not yet operational
manufacturing facility in China.  During the year ended June 30, 2009, a charge totaling $1,009,088 was recognized to
reflect the impairment of improvements made to the facility and other capitalized assets as well as a provision for
severance and direct incremental costs associated with the disposition and closure.  The impairment costs include
$830,000 of non-cash charges associated with asset impairments, net of estimated recoveries, $95,000 related to lease
commitments, $48,000 of incremental direct costs associated with the disposition and closure, and $36,000 of
severance and benefits costs.  The above impairment costs were recognized in accordance with the provisions of ASC
Topic 360, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.  During the twelve months ended June
30, 2010, cash charges totaling $37,217 were incurred against impairment reserves established in the fiscal year
ending June 30, 2009.  At June 30, 2010, the remaining reserve for these impairments costs was $3,234.

NOTE 9 – ACQUISITION OF MASTER INK CO. LTD:

On April 27, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire Master Ink Co. Ltd., a China based
manufacturer of toner cartridges, inkjet printer cartridges, inkjet refill kits and patented, next generation automatic ink
refill systems. The agreement with Master Ink Company, Ltd. and its affiliates is to acquire substantially all of Master
Ink's assets including its People's Republic of China based manufacturing facility for $250,000 in cash, a $900,000
promissory note, and one million shares of common stock.  For as long as the note is outstanding the Company will
pay the seller 10% of the value of sales as determined by the agreement.  The Company expects to close this
transaction during the second quarter of fiscal 2011.
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ITEM
9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On August 16, 2010, the Company was notified that Amper, Politziner and Mattia, LLP (“Amper”), the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm, combined its practice with that of Eisner LLP (“Eisner”) and the name of
the combined practice operates under the name EisnerAmper LLP.  On August 16, 2010, Amper resigned as the
independent registered public accounting firm of the Company, and the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors engaged EisnerAmper LLP to serve as the Company’s new independent registered public accounting
firm.  There were no disagreements with Amper of the type described in paragraph (a) (1) (iv) or any reportable event
as described in paragraph (a) (1) (v) of Item 304 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9A.       CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the officers who certify the Company’s financial reports and
to other members of senior management and the Board of Directors.  Our management, with the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by
this report.  Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that,
as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act.  Our management has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this evaluation,
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of June 30, 2010.  This
annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting.  We were not required to have, nor have we engaged our independent
registered public accounting firm to perform, an audit on our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management’s report in this annual
report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2010 that
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls

Management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial
reporting will prevent or detect all error and fraud.  Any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is
based upon certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives will be
met.  Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will
not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
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ITEM 9B.      OTHER INFORMATION

On September 27, 2010, we entered into an agreement amending certain terms and covenants of our revolving credit
facility with Sovereign Bank.  As amended, the credit facility for up to $4 million expires on October 1, 2011, accrues
interest at the greater of 8% or the bank’s prime rate plus 4%, contains an ebita covenant of ($450,000) for first quarter
2010, and modifies the fixed charge coverage ratio test for the second, third and fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 to be on
a three, nine and twelve month trailing basis, respectively.
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PART III

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Management

The persons listed in the table below are our present directors and executive officers as of September 21, 2010.

Name Age Position
Michael W. Levin 45 Chief Executive Officer, President and a Director
Marc Applebaum 54 Chief Financial Officer
Robert M. Ward 43 Chief Operating Officer
Denise Hawkins 41 Vice President, Controller and Secretary
Vincent G. Kelly 61 Vice President of Sales for the Americas
Willem van Rijn 61 Non-Executive Chairman and Director
Paul C. Baker 73 Director
Edwin Ruzinsky 77 Director
Henry Royer 78 Director
Dennis Ridgeway 61 Director

Management Profile

Michael W. Levin, Chief Executive Officer and President:
Michael W. Levin has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President since June 18, 1998, and served as
Chairman of the Board from June 18, 1998 through February 2008.  Before June 1998, he served as President,
Treasurer, Secretary and Chairman of Media Sciences’ predecessor, Cadapult Graphic Systems Inc., which he founded
in 1987 while attending Lehigh University.  In 2002, Mr. Levin was recognized in Business News New Jersey’s annual
“40 under 40” issue, which profiles the state’s outstanding business leaders under the age of 40.  In 1987, Mr. Levin
graduated summa cum laude from Lehigh University, receiving a Bachelor of Science Degree in Mechanical
Engineering.

Marc Applebaum, Chief Financial Officer:
Marc Applebaum joined Media Sciences International, Inc. in the position of Chief Financial Officer on July 7, 2010.

Mr. Applebaum has over 30 years of financial and accounting experience in the manufacturing, distribution and retail
industries.  From 1997 to 2006, he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Q.E.P. Co., Inc., an
international manufacturer and distributor of building materials.  From 1993 to 1997, he served as Senior Vice
President of Finance and Control for Pueblo/Xtra International Inc., a retailer in the grocery industry.  He worked for
Coopers & Lybrand from 1982 to 1993 where he served as an audit partner in their South Florida Offices from 1991
to 1993.  Beginning in 2006, Mr. Applebaum was a chief financial officer of two investments of private equity firms,
serving as Chief Financial Officer of InfiLaw Corp, an education management company, from 2006 to 2007, and of
Education Enrichment Resources Inc. from 2007 to 2008.  He was Chief Financial Officer and a member of the board
of directors of BSML, Inc., a retail and distribution company from February 2008 to October 2008.  Subsequently,
Mr. Applebaum was a principal in his own consulting company until his employment with Media Sciences
International.  He is a 1977 graduate of the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania with a  B.S. degree in
Economics and is a member of the American Institute of CPA’s.

Robert M. Ward, Chief Operating Officer:
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On July 28, 2008, Robert M. Ward was promoted to the position of Chief Operating Officer, succeeding Lawrence
Anderson, who retired on July 25, 2008.  Mr. Ward has previously served as Managing Director for the Company’s
Asian operations since June 2007, where he was responsible for establishing the Company’s China-based product
development and manufacturing subsidiary.  Mr. Ward has more than nineteen years of experience in operations,
product management, engineering, and manufacturing.  Prior to joining the Company, from April 2006 to June 2007,
Mr. Ward served as Director of Product Management for WatchGuard Technologies Inc., a Seattle, Washington
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based provider of Computer Network Firewalls and Software Security Services for Small to Medium
Enterprises.  From November of 2001 to March 2006, Mr. Ward served as the Director of Operations for WatchGuard
Technologies Inc.  Mr. Ward earned a Bachelor of Science Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of
Minnesota Institute of Technology in 1989.  Mr. Ward earned a Masters of Business Administration from the
University of Minnesota Carlson School of Management in 2001.

Denise Hawkins, Vice President, Controller and Secretary:
Denise Hawkins has served as Vice President for Media Sciences since February 12, 2003, and as Secretary since July
1, 2004.  Ms. Hawkins began her employment with the company in July of 2001 as the Controller and served as the
principal financial officer from 2003 to March 2006 and from May 14, 2010 to July 6, 2010.   Prior to her position at
Media Sciences, Ms. Hawkins was the Controller for NFK Excavating and Construction, Inc. (2000-2001), Horizon
Medical Group, PC (1998-2000) and VAC Service Corp. (1992-1998).   Ms. Hawkins also held the following
positions:  Staff Accountant for Alex Goldfarb, CPA PC (1990 to 1992) and Accountant in the Accounting Services
Department for the State University of New York - The College at New Paltz (1989 to 1990).   In 1990, Ms. Hawkins
graduated summa cum laude from the State University of New York-The College at New Paltz with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Accountancy, and in 1998, she graduated from Marist College with a Masters in Business
Administration in Finance.  Ms Hawkins is a member of the American Institute of CPAs, the New Jersey State Society
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Management Accountants and the Society for Human Resource
Management, as well as a Certified Public Accountant and a Certified Management Accountant.  Ms. Hawkins also
currently serves on the board of Helping Hands Christian Pre-School as Treasurer.

Vincent G. Kelly, Vice President of Sales for the Americas:
Vince Kelly joined Media Sciences, in January 2007 as Vice President of Sales for the Americas.  From 1996 to 2006,
Mr. Kelly was Vice President of Sales, United States, for the DYMO division of Esselte Corporation (later acquired
by Newell Rubbermaid).  Previously, Mr. Kelly served as Senior Vice President of Sales for Port Incorporated in
1995, as Chief Executive Officer from 1991 to 1994 for Occam Research Corporation, as Executive Vice President of
Sales and Marketing, North America, for Corporate Software from 1988 to 1991, as Vice President of Sales, North
America, for Lotus Development Corporate from 1985 to 1988, and in various sales and marketing positions for IBM
from 1972 to 1985.  Mr. Kelly received a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Electrical Engineering from Stevens
Institute of Technology in 1971. 

Willem van Rijn, Director:
Willem van Rijn became a director on May 2, 2006 and was appointed non-executive Chairman of the Board on
March 1, 2008.  Mr. van Rijn is the Organization Director (COO) of Greenpeace International, the environmental
NGO, based at its global headquarters in Amsterdam.  Prior to this, Mr. van Rijn has been Senior Advisor to the
founder and management committee of Capco, an international operations and technology consulting and solutions
firm, from 2002 to 2008.  From 1995 to 2002, Mr. van Rijn was a Senior Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers
Consulting, and its predecessor firm Coopers & Lybrand, where he served as the Managing Partner of the Japanese
financial services consulting practice from 1998 to 2002, and of the global strategy and financial risk management
consulting practices from 1995 to 1998. Mr. van Rijn’s business experience includes: President of Rhode Island-based
Gtech International (a division of Gtech Corporation), a provider of state and national lottery technology, outsourcing,
software and professional services, from 1994-1995; Partner in the New York office of Coopers & Lybrand from 1990
to 1994; Partner at Bank Street Consulting Group, a management consulting firm, from 1986 to 1990; Senior Vice
President in charge of international banking activities in the United States for Bank of America from 1981 to 1986;
Corporate Treasurer and member of the Managing Committee for global window covering and machine tooling
company Hunter Douglas NV from 1976 to 1981; and Vice President, Account Manager of large accounts for
commercial banking services, based in The Netherlands, for Bank of America from 1971 to 1976.  Mr. van Rijn also
currently serves on the board of Computer Horizons Corp.
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Paul C. Baker, Director:
Paul C. Baker has served as a Director since June 18, 1998. Mr. Baker is the chairman of the Compensation
committee and also serves on the Audit committee.  From 1986 to 2000 he was President of Sherwood Partners, Inc.,
a venture capital and management consulting company, which he founded, that focused on developing companies with
high growth potential. From 2000 to present, he has been General Partner of PCB Associates, LLC which performs
similar services. Prior to 1986, Baker held various management positions during 25 years of employment with
American Cyanamid Co., including President of Cyanamid’s Shulton, Inc. subsidiary from 1977
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to 1979 and Group Vice President of Cyanamid from 1979 to1984. Baker graduated from Lehigh University in 1959
and 1960 with degrees in Engineering and Liberal Arts and received his MBA degree from Fairleigh Dickinson
University in 1963.  Mr. Baker also currently serves on the board of Pascack Community Bank.

Edwin Ruzinsky, Director:
Mr. Ruzinsky has served as a Director since August 27, 1999 and is the chairman of the Audit committee and also
serves on the Nominating and Corporate Governance committee.  Prior to his retirement on June 1, 1996 as a Partner
in Deloitte Consulting LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deloitte & Touche LLP, he served for many years as the
firm’s National Director- Media Industry Services.  He previously served Times Mirror Company as Vice President of
Finance & Administration/Book Publishing Group and Parents’ Magazine Enterprises, Inc. as Chief Accounting
Officer.  Mr. Ruzinsky continues serving as a member of the Pace University/ Dyson School of Liberal Arts &
Sciences/Master of Science in Publishing Advisory Board.  On June 15, 2007, Mr. Ruzinsky resigned as a director of
Gentis, Inc., a bioscience company, due to its recapitalization.  On March 31, 2005, Dowden Health Media, Inc. on
whose board Mr. Ruzinsky served, was sold.

Henry Royer, Director:
Henry Royer has served as a Director since December 23, 1999 and is currently a member of the
Audit,  Compensation and the Nominating and Corporate Governance committees.  He graduated from Colorado
College in 1953 with a B.A. in Money and Banking.  From 1953 to 1961 he served as a grain merchandiser for
Pillsbury Mills and The Peavey Company.  From 1959 through 1965 he served on the Board of Directors and as EVP
of Lehigh Sewer Pipe and Tile Company.  From 1965 through 1983 he served in many capacities with the First
National Bank of Duluth (Wells Fargo) leaving as EVP to join the Merchants National Bank of Cedar Rapids (US
Bank) as Chairman, President and CEO.  In 1994 he became President and CEO of the River City Bank of
Sacramento, CA, retiring in 1998.  He served as an independent trustee and as President of Berthel Growth and
Income Trust retiring in 2005. In 1999 he assisted in organizing and served as Chairman of the Board of the Cedar
Rapids Bank and Trust and as a member of the board of QCRH, a bank holding company, retiring in 2006.  He
currently serves on the boards of Physicians Total Care, Inc of Tulsa, OK, CRST International, Inc and Great Plains
Casualty, Inc. of Cedar Rapids, IA.

Dennis Ridgeway, Director:
Dennis Ridgeway became a director on February 22, 2006.  Mr. Ridgeway is a member of the Compensation and the
Nominating and Corporate Governance committees.  From 1998 through 2005, Mr. Ridgeway served as an
independent management consultant and since 2004 has also served as a board member and technical advisor for a
working museum in the United Kingdom.  From 1984 to 1998, Mr. Ridgeway held various positions with Katun
Corporation, an aftermarket manufacturer of components and supplies for the business equipment
industry.  Headquartered in the United Kingdom, his positions included European Sales Manager, General Manager,
Assistant Vice President, and Vice President of European Operations from 1994 to 1998. Prior to 1984 Mr. Ridgeway
held senior management positions with Kalle Infotec the business equipment subsidiary of Hoechst AG in Europe.

Additional Information About Executive Officers and Directors

Our executive officers or directors are not associated with another by family relationships.  None of our directors or
officers serves or has served as a director of another reporting company within the past five years.  Based solely in
reliance on representations made by our officers and directors, during the past ten years, none of the following
occurred with respect to such persons: (1) no petition under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency law
was filed by or against, or a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer was appointed by a court for the business or
property of such persons, or any partnership in which he or she was a general partner or any corporation or business
association of which he or she was an executive officer at or within two years before the time of such filing; (2) no
such persons were convicted in a criminal proceeding or are a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding
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(excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses); (3) no such persons were the subject of any order, judgment or
decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of any competent jurisdiction, permanently or
temporarily enjoining, or of any federal or state authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting, their involvement
in any type of business practice, or in securities or banking or other financial institution activities; and (4) no such
persons were found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the SEC or by the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission to have violated any federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not
been reversed, suspended or vacated.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires our executive officers, directors, and
persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of our common stock to file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission initial reports of beneficial ownership and reports of changes in beneficial ownership of our common
stock.  Such persons are also required by Securities and Exchange Commission regulations to furnish us with copies
of all such Section 16(a) forms filed by such person.  Based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished
to us during and in connection with our 2010 fiscal year, we are not aware of any material delinquencies in the filing
of such reports.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and all other
executive officers.  Our Code of Ethics is publicly available on our website at www.mediasciences.com.

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for the control and direction of the Company.  The Board represents the Company’s
shareholders and its primary purpose is to build long-term shareholder value.  Our Board currently consists of six
members.  Each director stands for election every year.  Directors hold office until the next annual meeting of the
stockholders and until their successors are elected and qualified.

Board Committees.   The Board has three principal committees:  Audit Committee; Compensation Committee; and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.  The charter of each committee can be found on our web site at
www.mediasciences.com.

Members of the Board Committees are selected each year by our Board of Directors.  Selection to a committee of the
Board of Directors is determined by the majority vote of the Board of Directors.  Each committee is comprised of at
least three non-employee Board members, each of whom the Board has determined satisfies applicable NASDAQ
standards for independence.

Committee Membership.   The following table summarizes the membership of the Board and each of its committees
for our 2010 fiscal year:

Name
Audit
Committee

Compensation
Committee

Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee

Michael W. Levin
Paul C. Baker Member Chairman
Edwin Ruzinsky Chairman Member
Henry Royer Member Member Chairman
Dennis Ridgeway Member Member
Willem van Rijn Member

Audit Committee Financial Expert.   Mr. Ruzinsky is the financial expert serving on our Audit Committee and he is an
independent member of our Board.

Audit Committee.   The function of the Audit Committee includes reviewing internal financial information,
monitoring cash flow, budget variances and credit arrangements, reviewing the audit program of Media Sciences,
reviewing with Media Sciences’ independent accountants the results of all audits upon their completion, annually
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selecting and recommending independent accountants, overseeing the quarterly unaudited reporting process and
taking such other action as may be necessary to assure the adequacy and integrity of all financial information
distribution by Media Sciences. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent as defined under the NASDAQ’s
listing standards. The Audit Committee consists of non-employee directors whom Media Sciences has determined are
free of any relationship that could influence their judgment as a committee member and are not associated with a
major vendor to, or a customer of, Media Sciences.
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Compensation Committee.   The function of the Compensation Committee is to make determinations concerning
salaries and incentive compensation for our officers and employees.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.   The primary function of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee is to identify individuals qualified to become members of the Board consistent with criteria
approved by the Board, and to select, or recommend that the Board select, the director nominees for each annual
meeting of stockholders or when vacancies occur. The Committee shall also develop and recommend to the Board
corporate governance principles applicable to the Company and be responsible for leading the annual review of Board
performance.

ITEM 11.        EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Summary

The following table summarizes the compensation we paid to our Chief Executive Officer and our next two most
highly compensated executive officers who served at the end of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 (the “Named
Executive Officers”).

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal
Position Year

Salary
($)

Stock
awards
($)(1)(2)

Option
awards
($)(1)(3)

Non-equity
incentive
plan

compensation
earnings
($)(4)

All other
compensation

($)(5)
Total
($)

Michael W. Levin 2010 237,000 39,750 – 60,000 – 336,750
   Chief Executive
Officer and President 2009 238,500 20,000 59,676 64,800 – 382,976
Robert M. Ward (b)   2010 155,000 35,872 – 27,880 – 218,752
   Chief Operating
Officer   2009 156,200 20,000 – 26,568 – 202,768
Vincent Kelly   2010 151,000 17,667 – 8,000 – 176,667
   Vice President of
Sales   2009 152,400 20,000 70,000 21,938 – 264,338

(1) Represents the stock-based compensation recognized in the fiscal year in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718.  Estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions have been disregarded.  Assumptions made in the valuation of stock and
option awards are discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.  The
grant date fair value of each award, adjusted for estimated forfeiture, is recognized as
stock-based compensation expense in the Company’s financial statements over the
service period.

(2) On November 20, 2009, we granted to Mr. Levin 75,000 shares of common stock and
to Mr. Ward 50,000 shares of common stock, in each case subject to vesting over
three years in equal installments, and to Mr. Kelly 50,000 shares of common stock (of
which 16,667 shares were forfeited during the fiscal year) subject to certain
performance based vesting criteria.  The total grant date fair values of the awards
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are:  $39,750 for Mr. Levin, $26,500 for Mr. Ward and $26,500 for Mr. Kelly, of
which awards with a grant date fair value of $8,833 were forfeited.
On December 18, 2008, we granted Mr. Ward 23,429 shares of common stock,
subject to vesting over two years at 50% per year on each anniversary of the
grant.  The total grant date fair value of the award is $9,372.

(3) On July 8, 2008, we granted Mr. Levin stock options to purchase 75,073 shares of our
common stock, exercisable for five years at $2.20 per share, subject to vesting over
two years at 50% per year on each anniversary of the grant.  The total grant date fair
value of the award is $59,676.
On July 8, 2008, we granted Mr. Kelly stock options to purchase 82,111shares of our
common stock, exercisable for five years at $2.00 per share, subject to vesting over
two years at 50% per year on each anniversary of the grant.  The total grant date fair
value of the award is $70,000.

(4) Refers to amounts under an incentive based bonus structure for certain
executives.  See the discussion under the heading “Performance Based Bonus
Compensation” for additional information.

(5) This column reports the total amount of perquisites and other benefits provided, if
such total amount exceed $10,000
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In general, compensation payable to a Named Executive Officer consists of a base salary, a performance based bonus,
an equity-based grant under our incentive stock plan and other benefits, which generally do not exceed $10,000
annually in the aggregate, such as 401(k) plan matching contributions and life insurance premiums, where the
beneficiary is not the Company.  In fiscal 2010 and 2009, each Named Executive Officers agreed to accept a salary at
less than his annual base salary rate.

Employment Agreement and Arrangements with Named Executive Officers

The following discussion, and the discussion under the caption “Performance Based Bonus Compensation”, summarizes
the material terms of the employment agreement or arrangements with Named Executive Officers.

We have entered into written employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer, and, subject to at-will
employment, have certain arrangements with our other Named Executive Officers.  In addition to the terms described
below, under the employment agreement or arrangement, each of the executives are entitled to or participate in:  the
Company’s stock incentive plans; reimbursement for reasonable travel and other business related expenses; health care
benefits under our medical and dental insurance; and participation in any employee plan, perquisite and other benefits
made available to our employees or management in general.

Michael W. Levin, Chief Executive Officer and President
We have an employment agreement with Mr. Levin, pursuant to which Mr. Levin serves as our Chief Executive
Officer and President through December 31, 2012.  The agreement was entered on November 7, 2008 and amended on
March 3, 2009 and as of January 1, 2010.  Mr. Levin is entitled to a base annual salary of $250,000.  The Board of
Directors may provide for a greater annual salary, and an annual performance bonus or other bonus as the Board of
Directors may determine.  Mr. Levin is also entitled to receive the following benefits:

•  Death benefits of $100,000;
•  A fifteen-year term life insurance policy for $3,000,000, subject to reasonable insurability, during the term of
employment and for one year thereafter, for which he has the right to maintain at his own expense thereafter;

•  The use of an automobile, the costs of which, including maintenance, repairs, and insurance, are paid for by us;
•  Six weeks’ vacation; and

•  Health care benefits under our medical and dental insurance, and continued coverage for a twelve month period
following termination.

Mr.  Levin has the right to terminate his employment if we undergo a “change in control” within the meaning of
Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i) (5).  If Mr. Levin elects to terminate his employment upon a change in
control, he is entitled to an immediate lump sum payment of 200% of his “base amount”, as defined in §280G(3) of the
Internal Revenue Code.  In the event of early termination for reasons of disability, “good reason” involuntary
termination, or certain circumstances of without case termination, subject to the terms of the agreement, Mr. Levin is
entitled to severance, payable in a lump sum within two weeks of termination, of 200% of his “base amount”, as defined
in  §280G(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Payment under the severance provision is in lieu of payment under the
change in control provision.  The agreement contains provisions relating to termination for cause, delay of payments
to conform to applicable law, and indemnification on an after-tax basis for excise taxes.

Mr. Levin received the following equity-based awards during our last two completed fiscal years:  (1) on November
20, 2009, a restricted stock award of 75,000 shares, subject to vesting in equal installments on November 20, 2010,
2011 and 2012; (2) on March 3, 2009, a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares, which vested on January 1, 2010; and
(3) on July 8, 2008, an option award to purchase 75,073 shares, exercisable for five years a $2.20 per share, which
vested in equal installments on July 8, 2009 and July 8, 2010.
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Marc Applebaum, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Applebaum’s employment is on at at-will basis.  He is entitled to a base salary at the rate of $170,000 per year.  In
July 2010, he received (1) a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares of common stock, subject to a one year vesting
period, as a signing bonus, and (2) an option award to purchase 100,002 shares of common stock, subject to vesting in
equal increments over a four year period and exercisable for seven years from grant at $0.3405 per share.
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He is also entitled to relocation costs of up to $15,000.  Mr. Applebaum may be eligible for annual performance based
cash bonuses, in accordance with a compensation plan for senior management as determined by the Company’s
Compensation Committee.  Commencing with the Company’s fiscal year 2012, Mr. Applebaum may be eligible for
annual stock-based grants in line with the rest of the Company’s management team, as determined by the Company’s
Compensation Committee.  He is entitled to certain employee benefits including the following:  four weeks of
vacation annually, a life insurance policy in the amount of $1 million, which is subject to reasonable insurability and
rates, and participation in the Company’s medical, dental, long term disability and 401K plans.  If we undergo a “change
in control” within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i)(5), Mr. Applebaum has the right to
terminate his employment, in which event he is entitled to twelve months of his base salary and to certain employee
benefits for one year, and to immediate vesting of all employee stock-based awards granted to him.  In the event of
involuntary termination for reasons other than cause, Mr. Applebaum will be eligible for severance of six months of
his base salary and certain employee befits for one year.

Robert M. Ward, Chief Operating Officer
Mr. Ward’s employment is on at at-will basis.  He is entitled to a base salary at the rate of $164,000 per year.  He is
eligible for annual performance based cash bonuses, in accordance with a compensation plan for senior management
as determined by the Company’s Compensation Committee, and entitled to participate in customary employee benefits
that are generally offered to company employees.

Mr. Ward received the following equity-based awards during our last two completed fiscal years:  (1) on November
20, 2009, a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares subject to vesting in equal installments on November 20, 2010,
2011 and 2012; (2) on March 3, 2009, a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares, which vested on January 1, 2010; and
(3) on December 18, 2008, a restricted stock award of 23,429 shares, subject to vesting over two years at 50% per year
on each anniversary of the grant.

Vince Kelly, Vice President of Sales
Mr. Kelly’s employment is on at at-will basis.  He is entitled to base salary at the rate of $160,000 per year.  He is
eligible for annual performance based cash bonuses, in accordance with a compensation plan for senior management
as determined by the Company’s Compensation Committee, and entitled to participate in customary employee benefits
that are generally offered to company employees.

Mr. Kelly received the following equity-based awards during our last two completed fiscal years;  (1) on November
20, 2009, a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares, subject to certain performance based vesting criteria; (2) on March
3, 2009, a restricted stock award of 50,000 shares, which vested on January 1, 2010; and (3) on July 8, 2008, an option
award to purchase 82,111 shares, exercisable for five years at $2.00 per share, subject to vesting over two years at
50% per year on each anniversary of the grant.

Performance Based Bonus Compensation

From year to year, our Compensation Committee establishes certain performance criteria for our Named Executive
Officers, based on factors and criteria as the Compensation Committee may deem relevant.

For our 2010 fiscal year, we had in effect a performance based cash bonus compensation plan for certain executive
officers.  In fiscal 2010, for our Chief Executive Officer, the potential cash bonus was $200,000, of which 33% was
based on individualized performance goals (“Individual Performance Bonus”), and 67% determined wholly upon
attaining earnings per share criteria determined by the Board (“EPS Bonus”).  For other Named Executive Officers, the
potential cash bonus was 20-40% of their base salary, of which 50% was based on the Individual Performance Bonus
criteria, and 50% on the EPS Bonus criteria.  Bonuses are paid after the fiscal year end.
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The following table summarizes the payout structure under the fiscal year 2010 bonus structure.  The EPS Bonus was
to be earned if our Company’s earnings per share equaled or exceeded a minimum level established by the
Compensation Committee.  The EPS Bonus range set forth in the table assumed the achievement of the minimum
targeted level and up to 100% of the targeted goal.  If the minimum level was not achieved, no EPS Bonus was
earned.  If the minimum level is achieved or exceeded, the amount of the EPS Bonus was based upon the level of
earnings per share achieved by the Company.  If the maximum targeted goal was exceeded, the EPS Bonus payable
could exceed the EPS Bonus potential set forth in the table below.  Factors in determining the Individual
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Performance Bonus includes matters such as achieving specified leadership initiatives, and the achievement of certain
strategic and business goals including, but not limited to, customer growth, new product development, information
technology upgrades, manufacturing efficiencies and corporate compliance goals.

Fiscal 2010 Bonus Potential Fiscal 2010 Bonus Earned

Name
EPS

Bonus ($)

Individual
Performance
Bonus ($)

Total
Bonus
($)

EPS
Bonus
($)

Individual
Performance
Bonus ($)

Total
Bonus
($)

Michael W.
Levin

67,000 –
134,000

0 – 66,000 200,000 0 60,000 60,000

Robert M. Ward 16,000
–   33,000

0 – 33,000 66,000 0 27,880 27,880

Vincent G.
Kelly

16,000
–   32,000

0 – 32,000 64,000 0 8,000 8,000

In September 2010, the Compensation Committee adopted a performance based bonus compensation plan for the
2011 fiscal year, similar in structure to the fiscal 2010 plan.  For our Chief Executive Officer, the potential cash bonus
in fiscal 2010 is $200,000, of which 33%  is based on Individual Performance Bonus criteria, and 67% is based on
EPS Bonus criteria.  For the other Named Executive Officers, the potential cash bonus is 20-40% of their base salary,
of which 50% is based on the Individual Performance Bonus criteria, and 50% on the EPS Bonus criteria.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2010 Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth information concerning outstanding option and stock awards held by the Named
Executive Officers as at June 30, 2010.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
options
(#)

exercisable

Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
options
(#)

unexercisable

Option
exercise
price
($)

Option
expiration
date

Number
of

shares or
units

of stock
that

have not
vested
(#)

Market
value

of shares
or

units of
stock

that have
not

vested
($)(a)

Michael W. Levin
(1) 37,536 37,537 2.20 07-08-2013 – –
Michael W. Levin
(2) – – – – 75,000 25,500
Robert M. Ward
(3) 15,817 31,635 6.04 06-18-2014

– –

Robert M. Ward
(4) – – – – 14,901 5,215
Robert M. Ward
(5) – – – – 11,714 3,983

– – – – 50,000 16,950
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Robert M. Ward
(2)
Vincent G. Kelly
(6) – – – – 50,000 16,950
Vincent G. Kelly
(7) 33,624 22,416 6.04 01-22-2014 – –
Vincent G. Kelly
(8) 41,055 41,056 2.00 07-08-2013 – –

(a) The amounts in this column reflect the fair market value of outstanding restricted
stock awards for the named executive officers using the closing price on June 30,
2010 of $0.339, the last trading day of our common stock in fiscal 2010.

(1) Granted July 8, 2008.  Unexercisable options are subject to vesting on July 8, 2010.
(2) Granted November 20, 2009.  Subject to vesting in equal installments on November

20, 2010, 2011 and 2012.
(3) Granted June 18, 2007.  Unexercisable options are subject to equal vesting annually

on July 28, 2010 and 2011.
(4) Granted June 18, 2007.  Subject to performance-based vesting criteria.
(5) Granted December 18, 2008.  Subject to vesting on December 18, 2010.
(6) Granted November 20, 2009.  Subject to performance-based vesting criteria.
(7) Granted January 22, 2007.  Unexercisable options are subject to vesting in equal

installments on January  22, 2011 and 2012.
(8) Granted July 8, 2008.  Unexercisable options are subject to vesting on July 8, 2010.
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Incentive Stock Plans

Our equity incentive program is a broad-based, long-term retention program that is intended to attract and retain
qualified management and technical employees, and align stockholder and employee interests.  The equity incentive
program presently consists of two active plans: the Company’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and the Company’s 2009
Stock Incentive Plan.  Under both plans, non-employee directors, officers, key employees, consultants and all other
employees may be granted options to purchase shares of our stock, restricted stock units and other types of equity
awards.

On June 17, 2008, the Company’s 1998 Incentive Plan ended and we can issue no further awards under the
plan.  Under the 1998 plan, up to 1,000,000 common shares were authorized for issuance through awards of options or
other equity instruments.  As of June 30, 2010, 196,069 shares were issued upon exercise of option awards.  As of
June 30, 2010, we had outstanding, subject to vesting, stock options to purchase 480,126 shares of common stock,
exercisable for up to ten years at prices of $0.43 to $6.33 per share, and 117,316 shares issuable pursuant to restricted
stock awards.

Under the Company’s 2006 plan, 1,000,000 common shares are authorized for issuance through awards of options or
other equity instruments.  As of June 30, 2010, we had outstanding under the 2006 plan, subject to vesting, stock
options to purchase 552,002 common shares, exercisable for up to seven years from grant at prices of $1.85 to $5.65
per share, and 423,940 shares issuable pursuant to restricted stock awards.  As of June 30, 2010, 24,058 common
shares were available for future issuance under the 2006 plan.

Under the Company’s 2009 plan, 1,250,000 common shares are authorized for issuance through awards of options or
other equity instruments.  As of June 30, 2010, we had outstanding under the 2009 plan, subject to vesting, stock
options to purchase 45,000 common shares, exercisable for up to seven years with a grant price of $0.42 per share, and
767,000 shares issuable pursuant to restricted stock awards.  As of June 30, 2010, 438,000 common shares were
available for future issuance under the 2009 plan.

Employee Profit Sharing Plan

We have a tax-qualified employee paired profit sharing plan. This 401(k) plan covers all of our employees that have
been employed for at least six months and meet other age and eligibility requirements. Under the 401(k) plan,
employees may choose to reduce their current compensation by up to 15% each year and have that amount contributed
to the 401(k) plan. We make matching contributions equal to 25% of the employee’s contribution. In our discretion, we
may contribute unmatched contributions. The 401(k) plan qualifies under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code,
so that we can deduct contributions by employees or by us. Employee contributions to the 401(k) plan are fully vested
at all times, and our contributions, if any, vest at the rate of 25% after two years and after two years at the rate of 25%
a year until fully vested.  We also maintain a defined contribution plan for our eligible UK employees.  The U.K. plan
is 100% Company funded.  Our contributions to these plans totaled $47,000 in fiscal 2010 and $40,000 in fiscal 2009.

Director Compensation

Based on economic uncertainties facing the Company in fiscal 2009, our directors voluntarily waived their
prospective cash compensation effective October 1, 2008.  On October 1, 2009, half of this waiver remained in
effect.  Effective April 19, 2010 the remainder of the waiver was terminated.  In fiscal 2010, we paid outside directors
an aggregate of $55,339 in cash and stock-based compensation with an aggregate grant date fair value of $133,560 for
attendance at regular and special meetings.  Chairpersons of the following committees were also paid an additional fee
for their committee service: Audit $750 and Compensation $500.  The compensation plan, in the absence of waiver,
provides for the following annual compensation: for the non-executive Chairman, cash compensation of $45,000 and
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stock-based compensation valued at $75,000; and for the other outside directors, cash compensation of $15,000 and
stock-based compensation valued at $25,000.  Stock-based compensation may be issued in the form of restricted stock
or stock options.  Our directors were also reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with their attendance at meetings as well as for other expenses incurred in their capacity as directors.
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2010 Compensation of Non-Employee Directors

Name

Fees earned
or paid in
cash
($)

Stock
awards
($)(a)(b)

All other
compensation

($)
Total
($)

Paul Baker 8,000 13,132 – 21,132
Dennis Ridgeway 7,500 13,132 – 20,632
Henry Royer 7,500 13,132 – 20,632
Edwin Ruzinsky 8,250 13,132 – 21,382
Willem van Rijn 22,500 39,397 – 61,897
Frank J. Tanki 1,589 7,644 – 9,233

(a) Represents the stock-based compensation recognized in fiscal 2010 in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718.  Stock-based compensation awards are valued at fair
value on the date of grant.  Estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions have been disregarded.  Assumptions made in the valuation of stock and
option awards are discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) On November 20, 2009, each director (other than Mr. Tanki who served as a director
until December 2009) was awarded 36,000 shares of the Company’s common stock,
vesting in equal installments on November 20, 2010 and 2011.  The Company’s
non-executive Chairman, Mr. van Rijn, was awarded an additional 72,000 shares, also
vesting in equal installments on November 20, 2010 and 2011.  For each director
serving at June 30, 2010, the aggregate number of stock awards and option awards
outstanding at June 30, 2010, granted as director compensation was:  Mr. Baker,
36,000 restricted shares and 64,123 options; Mr. Ridgeway, 36,000 restricted shares
and 29,123 options; Mr. Royer, 36,000 restricted shares and 29,123 options; Mr.
Ruzinsky, 36,000 restricted shares and 44,123 options; and, Mr. van Rijn, 108,000
restricted shares and 60,012 options.

ITEM
12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The tables below sets forth, as of September 24, 2010, the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by: each of
our directors; each of our executive officers; all of our officers and directors as a group; and each person known to us
to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock.

This information was determined in accordance with Rule 13(d)-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and is
based upon the information provided by the persons listed below.  All persons named in the tables, unless otherwise
noted in the footnotes, have the sole voting and dispositive power with respect to common stock that they beneficially
own.  Beneficial ownership of common stock that are acquirable within 60 days upon the exercise of stock options are
listed separately.  For purposes hereof, for each named person, restricted stock awards that are subject to vesting are
included being beneficially owned, and the calculation of percent of class gives effect to those restricted shares and
those shares acquirable within 60 days.  For purposes hereof, beneficial ownership has been determined based upon
the number of shares reported as outstanding as of September 24, 2010.

Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner (1)

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Owner

Additional Shares Percent
of Class
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Acquirable Within 60
days

Officers and Directors
Michael W. Levin 1,371,450 (a) 75,073 (b) 11.3%
Marc Applebaum 50,000 (c) 0 (d) *
Robert M. Ward 153,231 (e) 31,634 (f) 1.4%
Denise Hawkins 28,657 (g) 46,009 (h) *
Vince Kelly 83,333 (i) 115,735 (j) 1.5%
Paul Baker 142,667 (k) 59,123 (l) 1.6%
Dennis Ridgeway 61,938 (k) 29,123 (m) *
Henry Royer 62,667 (k)(n) 29,123 (o) *
Edwin Ruzinsky 92,667 (k) 39,123 (p) 1.0%
Willem van Rijn 174,000 (q) 60,012 (r) 1.8%
All officers and directors as a
group
   (10 persons)

2,220,610 484,955 20.5%
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* Represents less than 1%.
(1) The address of each of the persons named in the table, unless otherwise indicated, is

c/o Media Sciences International, Inc., 8 Allerman Road, Oakland, New Jersey
07436.

(a) Includes 120,000 shares owned by his minor children, 8,000 shares owned by his
spouse, and 75,000 restricted shares granted on November 20, 2009 that are subject
to vesting in equal installments on November 20, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

(b) Refers to shares underlying options granted on July 8, 2008 exercisable at $2.20 per
share until July 8, 2013.

(c) Refers to 50,000 restricted shares granted on July 7, 2010 that are subject to vesting
on July 7, 2011.

(d) Does not include 100,002 shares underlying options granted on July 2, 2010,
exercisable at $0.3405 per share until July 7, 2017, that are subject to vesting in
equal installments on July 7, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014.

(e) Includes the following restricted share awards: 14,901 shares granted on June 18,
2007 that are subject to performance vesting criteria; 11,715 shares granted on
December 18, 2008 that are subject to vesting on December 18, 2010; and 50,000
shares granted on November 20, 2009 that are subject to vesting in equal installments
on November 20, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

(f) Refers to shares underlying options granted in July 2008 exercisable at $6.04 per
share until June 18, 2014.  Does not include 15,818 shares underlying options that
are subject to vesting on July 28, 2010 and 2011, exercisable at $6.04 per share until
June 18, 2014.

(g) Includes the following restricted share awards:  1,052 restricted shares granted on
October 10, 2007 that are subject to vesting on October 10, 2010; 25,000 shares
granted on November 20, 2009 that are subject to vesting in equal installments on
November 20, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

(h) Refers to shares acquirable upon exercise of the following option grants:  10,002
shares at $1.70 per share until July 16, 2011; 20,000 shares at $1.91 per share until
January 12, 2015; and 16,007 shares at $2.00 per share until July 8, 2013.  Does not
include 45,000 shares underlying options that are subject to vesting in equal
installments on April 23, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

(i) Includes 33,333 restricted shares that are subject to performance vesting criteria.
(j) Refers to shares acquirable upon exercise of the following option grants: 33,624

options exercisable at  $6.04 per share until January 22, 2014 and 82,111 options
exercisable at $2.00 per share until July 8, 2013.  Does not include 22,416 shares
underlying options that are subject to vesting in equal installments on January 22,
2011 and 2012, exercisable at $6.04 per share until January 22, 2014.

(k) Includes 36,000 restricted shares granted on November 20, 2009, subject to vesting
in equal installments on November 20, 2010 and 2011.

(l) Refers to shares acquirable upon exercise of the following option grants: 5,000
shares at $2.00 per share until July 2, 2011; 5,000 shares at $0.65 per share until
September 24, 2012; 10,000 shares at $0.43 per share until May 6, 2013; 5,000
shares at $0.85 per share until February 10, 2014; 5,000 shares at $1.45 per share
until December 17, 2014; 10,000 shares at $2.71 per share until January 30, 2016;
10,000 shares at $6.30 per share until December 14, 2016; and 9,123 shares at $5.65
per share until October 10, 2014.

(m)
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 Refers to shares acquirable upon the exercise of the following option grants:  10,000
shares at $3.38 per share until February 26, 2016; 10,000 shares at $6.30 per share
until December 14, 2016; and 9,123 shares at $5.65 per share until October 10, 2014

(n) Does not include 50,000 shares held by Heffernen 1966 Trust B, a trust controlled by
Mr. Royer’s spouse. Mr. Royer disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares.

(o) Refers to shares acquirable upon the exercise of the following option grants:  10,000
shares at $2.71 per share until January 30, 2016; 10,000 shares at $6.30 per share
until December 14, 2016; and 9,123 shares at $5.65 per share until October 10, 2014.

(p) Refers to shares acquirable upon exercise of the following option grants:  5,000
shares at $2.00 per share until July 2, 2011; 5,000 shares at $1.45 per share until
December 17, 2014; 10,000 shares at $2.71 per share until January 30, 2016; 10,000
shares at $6.30 per share until December 14, 2016; and 9,123 shares at $5.65 per
share until October 10, 2014.

(q) Includes 108,000 restricted shares granted on November 20, 2009 subject to vesting
in equal installments on November 20, 2010 and 2011.

(r) Refers to shares acquirable upon the exercise of the following option grants:  10,000
shares at $4.09 per share until May 2, 2016; 10,000 shares at $6.30 per share until
December 14, 2016; 9,123 shares at $5.65 per share until October 10, 2014; and
30,889 shares at $3.50 per share until March 1, 2015.
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Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner (1)

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Owner

Additional Shares
Acquirable Within 60

days

Percent
of Class

5% Security Holders
Richard E. Teller and Kathleen
A. Rogers
   545 Boylston Street
   Brookline, MA  02445

963,031 0 7.6%

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table set forth outstanding securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of
June 30, 2010.

Plan Category

Number of
securities

to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options, warrants
and rights (a)

Weighted average
exercise price
of outstanding
options, warrants
and rights (a)(b)

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance

Equity compensation plans
approved by securities
holders

1,077,128 $3.25 462,058

Equity compensation plans
not
approved by security holders

– – –

Total 1,077,128 $3.25 462,058

(a) Does not include 592,460 shares subject to restricted stock awards.
(b) Calculation excludes shares subject to restricted stock awards. There is no exercise

price associated with a restricted stock award.

Plans in the Shareholder Approved Category

Our equity incentive program is a broad-based, long-term retention program that is intended to attract and retain
qualified management and technical employees, and align stockholder and employee interests.  The equity incentive
program presently consists of two active plans, our 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and our 2009 Stock Incentive Stock
Plan, and formerly included our 1998 Incentive Plan.  Under each of the plans, non-employee directors, officers, key
employees, consultants and all other employees may be granted options to purchase shares of our stock, restricted
stock units and other types of equity awards.  Collectively, the plans have provided for the issuance of up to 3,250,000
shares of common stock.  As of June 30, 2010, under the 1998 plan, we had issued 196,069 shares upon exercise of
option awards and, outstanding, subject to vesting, options to purchase 480,126 shares of common stock, exercisable
for up to ten years at prices of $0.43 to $6.33 per share, and 117,316 shares issuable pursuant to restricted stock
awards.  On June 17, 2008, the 1998 plan expired and no new awards can be made under it.  As of June 30, 2010, we
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had outstanding under the 2006 plan, subject to vesting, stock options to purchase 552,002 common shares,
exercisable for up to seven years from grant at prices of $1.85 to $5.65 per share, and 423,940 shares issuable pursuant
to restricted stock awards.  As of June 30, 2010, 24,058 common shares were available for future issuance under the
2006 plan.  As of June 30, 2010, we had outstanding under the 2009 plan, subject to vesting, stock options to purchase
45,000 common shares, exercisable for up to seven years from grant at a price of $0.42 per share, and 767,000 shares
issuable pursuant to restricted stock awards.  As of June 30, 2010, 438,000 common shares were available for future
issuance under the 2009 plan.

Changes in Control

We do not have any arrangements that may result in a change in control.
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ITEM 13.        CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

All of our directors, other than Michael W. Levin, our Chief Executive Officer, and all members of Board committees,
are independent directors.  For purposes of determining independence, we are applying the independence standards of
the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.  Reference is made to Item 10 of Part III of this Report on Form 10-K for additional
information about our Board and Board Committees, including their composition.

ITEM 14.        PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Audit Fees

Fees for audit services provided by EisnerAmper, LLP our principal independent registered public accounting firm,
for the year ended June 30, 2010 were $105,000.  Fees for audit services provided by Amper, Politziner & Mattia,
LLP, for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were $45,149 and $165,719, respectively.  Audit fees consist of the
aggregate fees billed for the audits of our annual financial statements, reviews of our interim financial statements, and
services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal
years.

Audit-Related Fees

Fees for audit-related services provided by EisnerAmper, LLP during the year ended June 30, 2010 were $0.   Fees for
audit-related services provided by Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP during the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
were $0. Audit-related fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of our financial statements outside of those fees disclosed above under the caption
Audit Fees.

Tax Fees

Fees for tax services provided by EisnerAmper, LLP for the year ended June 30, 2010 were $0.  Fees for tax services
provided by Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 were $18,135 and
$0, respectively. Tax fees consist of fees billed for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning.

All Other Fees

Fees for customer rebate compliance testing provided by Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009 were $1,250.  There were no other fees billed for services by Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy that requires advance approval of all audit, audit-related, tax services, and
other services, including non-audit services, performed by the independent registered public accounting firm.  The
policy provides for pre-approval by the Audit Committee of specifically defined audit and non-audit services.  As part
of its pre-approval policy, the Audit Committee considers whether the provision of any proposed non-audit services is
consistent with the SEC’s rules on auditor independence. Unless the specific service has been pre-approved with
respect to that year, the Audit Committee must approve the permitted service before the independent registered public
accounting firm is engaged to perform it.  All services performed in our 2010 and 2009 fiscal years were
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pre-approved.
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ITEM 15.        EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)      List of documents filed as a part of this report:

(1)      Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2010 and 2009

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended June 30, 2010 and
2009

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2010 and 2009
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)      Index to Financial Statement Schedules

         Not required.

(3)      Index to Exhibits

Exhibit
No.

Description

2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2010)

3(i)(1) Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i)(1) of
Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB/A filed on September 1, 1998)

3(i)(2) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3(i)(5) of Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on
September 28, 1999)

3(i)(3)

3(i)(4)

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3(i)(1) of Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB filed on May
15, 2002)
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3(i)(1) of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28,
2007

3(i)(5) Certificate of Designation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of
Registration Statement on Form SB-2, Registration Number 333-91005,
originally filed on November 15, 1999)

3(i)(6) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(i)(6) of Annual Report on Form
10-KSB filed on September 15, 2003)

3(i)(7) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of Registration Statement on
Form SB-2, Registration Number 333-112340 filed on January 30, 2004)

3(ii) By-Laws, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(ii)
of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 2, 2007)

10.1+ 1998 Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.10 of Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on March 22, 2006)

10.2+
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2006 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 9, 2007)

10.3+ 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as Amended and Restated (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February
12, 2009)

10.4+ 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on February 5, 2009)

10.5+ Option Agreement with Lawrence Anderson, June 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 of Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on
September 13, 2005)

10.6+ Employment Agreement with Michael Levin (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2008)

10.7+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Michael Levin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on March 4, 2009)

10.8+ Form of Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Michael Levin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on November 24, 2009.
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10.9+ Employment Agreement with Kevan Bloomgren (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2009)

10.10+ Employment Agreement with Robert Ward (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2009)

10.11+ Employment Agreement with Vince Kelly (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2009)

10.12 Agreement with PNC, dated as of September 2008 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.11 of Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on September 25, 2008)

10.13 Amendment to Forbearance Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 14, 2009)

10.14 Form of Loan Agreement Documents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2008)

10.15 Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on September 24, 2009)

10.16 Second Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on September 25, 2008)

10.17 Third Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
and Other Documents
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on June 26, 2009)

10.18 Fourth Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
and Other Documents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 29, 2009)

10.19 Fifth Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
and Other Documents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K
filed on April 28, 2010)

10.20 Sixth Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security Agreement
and Other Documents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Form 10-Q
filed on May 13, 2010)

10.21* Seventh Agreement of Amendment to Revolving Loan and Security
Agreement and Other Documents

10.22 Lease Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Annual Report
on Form 10-KSB filed on or about September 28, 2000)

10.23 Sublease Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2005)

10.24 Master Lease Agreement, July 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.27 of Annual Report on Form 10-KSB filed on September 13, 2005)

10.25 Lease Extension Rider (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 24, 2009)

10.26 Modification Agreement with MicroCapital Fund L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of  Form 8-K filed on March  30, 2010)

10.27 Repurchase Agreement, Series A Warrants, with MicroCapital Fund L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of  Form 8-K filed on March 30,
2010)

10.28 Repurchase Agreement, Series B Warrants, with MicroCapital Fund L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on March 30,
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2010)
10.29 Modification Agreement with MicroCapital Fund Ltd (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 of  Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2010)
10.30 Repurchase Agreement, Series A Warrants with MicroCapital Fund Ltd

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on March 30,
2010)

10.31 Repurchase Agreement, Series B Warrants, with MicroCapital Fund Ltd
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on March 30,
2010)

11 Statement re: computation of per share earnings is hereby incorporated by
reference to Part II, Item 8 of this report

21* Subsidiaries of the Registrant
23.1* Consent of Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP
23.2* Consent of EisnerAmper LLP
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31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
*  Filed herewith
+  Represents executive compensation plan or agreement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, as of September 28, 2010.

MEDIA SCIENCES INTERNATIONAL,
INC.

By:   /s/ Michael W. Levin                            
         Michael W. Levin
         Chief Executive Officer and President

Dated:  September 28, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Michael W. Levin Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director

September 28, 2010

Michael W. Levin

/s/Marc P. Applebaum Chief Financial Officer September 28, 2010
Marc P. Applebaum

/s/ Willem van Rijn Director and Non-Executive Chairman September 28, 2010
Willem van Rijn

/s/ Paul C. Baker Director September 28, 2010
Paul C. Baker

/s/ Edwin Ruzinsky Director September 28, 2010
Edwin Ruzinsky

/s/ Henry Royer Director September 28, 2010
Henry Royer

/s/ Dennis Ridgeway Director September 28, 2010
Dennis Ridgeway
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